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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

)
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA )

Plaintiff

V.

N’ N N N N

APPLE, INC., ) Civil Action No. 12-cv-2826
HACHETTE BOOK GROUP, INC., )
HARPERCOLLINS PUBLISHERS L.IC., ) THE PENGUIN GROUP ANSWER
VERLAGSGRUPPE GEORG VON )
HOLTZBRINCK GMBH, )
HOLTZBRINCK PUBLISHERS, LLC )
d/b/a MACMILLAN, )
THE PENGUIN GROUP, )
A DIVISION OF PEARSON PLC, )
PENGUIN GROUP (USA), INC., )
and SIMON & SCHUSTER, INC., )

Defendants. )

COMES NOW THE PENGUIN GROUP, BIVISION OF PEARSON PLC, and
PENGUIN GROUP (USA), INC. (collectively ‘®hguin” or “Penguin Group”), and in response
to plaintiffs’ Complaint, states the following:

PREAMBLE

Penguin did not conspire to fix the pricese®&ooks with other publising or with Apple.
Penguin, at the invitation of Apple, indepentlg negotiated and ultimately entered into a
vertical distribution agreemenith Apple. Penguin did so, as the Complaint must concede,
because Apple wanted to open an online booksiiadet needed access to eBooks in order to do
so—and not just Penguin’s eBook titles, but enough breadth amdyafititles from different
publishers in order to have a bookstore wheresumers would want &hop. From Penguin’s

perspective, Apple’s technology platform, mankg expertise and its millions of customers

presented an opportunity to expand Penguirsgidution and sell more eBooks, and develop
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and sell new types of enhanced eBooks comieaniith Apple’s advaned technology. Apple,
as the Complaint must also concede, wantdtht@ a profitable business if it was to open an
iBookstore—otherwise there would have been no iBookstore.

The form of the vertical relationship—agcy—made independent business sense to
Penguin. The agency distribution model has exisgtethr longer than the federal antitrust laws
and has specifically been found by the U.S. Supr@met to be a legitimate way to do business.
The agency distribution model—Ilike vexai distribution agreements generally—has
incontrovertible pro-competitive aspects. It atemnot be discounted th@apple’s entry and the
adoption of the agency model demolished what walely recognized in the book industry as a
“barrier to entry"—Amazon’s busess practice of selling certanew release eBooks below-cost
for certainperiods of time—and prevented Amazoonfrcementing itself as a monopolist that
would continue to dominate tlsale of eBooks and eReaders.

A vertical distributon agreement is presumptively pro-competitive. New entry is
presumptively pro-competitive. Broader distribution is presumptively pro-competitive. Lower
barriers to entry are presumptively pro-competiti Yet the Government intentionally ignores
these facts with regard to iguin’s decision to distribute ieBooks through Apple and instead

sides with a monopolist.

[. INTRODUCTION

ALLEGATION 1.  Technology has brought revolutionariyange to the business of
publishing and selling books, including the dramaxplosion in salesf “e-books™—that is,
books sold to consumers in electronic form ezabl on a variety of electronic devices, including
dedicated e- readers (such as the KindlihnemNook), multipurpose tablets, smartphones and

personal computers. Consumers reap a vaoiegnefits from e-books, including 24-hour



access to product with near-instant delivery, egmetability and storage, and adjustable font
size. E- books also are consialelly cheaper to produce and distrie than physical (or “print”)
books.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thampetition in the book industry is
complex and robust. Part of this dynamiswolves eBooks, a new, exciting, and rapidly
developing means of distributing literary conteRenguin admits that this dynamic competition
is characterized by continuimgnovations in the formatra content of eBooks (including
enhanced eBooks), development and changé®inumber and quality of eReading devices, the
2010 entry of Apple into the eBookstore businessl technological giant Microsoft’s recent
investment in the Barnes & Noble Nook linebafsiness. Penguin aladmits that eBooks
provide a number of attractifeatures for consumers, and, so long as there is continued
development of content and technology spawmedew entry, a diverse marketplace, and the
ability of authors to make a livelihood producingaaied assortment of literary works, there will
continue to be other innovations affectieBooks that will benefit both consumers and
publishers like Penguin. Penguin otherwise dethiesllegations contained in paragraph 1.

ALLEGATION 2.  E-book sales have been incre@srapidly ever since Amazon
released its first Kindle device in November2607. In developing and then mass marketing its
Kindle e-reader and associated e-book confengzon substantially increased the retail market
for e-books. One of Amazon’s most successful retaml strategies was to lower substantially
the price of newly releaseté bestselling e-books to $9.99.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits teBbok sales have increased since 2007
because publishers, including Penguin, have investeddand resources to convert frontlist (i.e.,

new releases) and backligles into eBook format, partneredth authors to develop innovative,



enhanced eBooks, and worked with a varedtglistribution partnes including Amazon, to

expand the distribution and sale of eBooksnde#n also admits that Amazon’s below-cost

selling of certain newly relead and bestselling e-books for $9.99, initiated shortly after the
launch of the Kindle, was a successful strategy for locking consumers into its proprietary Kindle
platform and raising a significant barrier tadrgn Penguin otherwise denies the allegations
contained in paragraph 2.

ALLEGATION 3.  Publishers saw the rise in e-books, and particularly Amazon’s price
discounting, as a substantial challenge &rttraditional business model. The Publisher
Defendants feared that lower retail prices faroeks might lead eventualto lower wholesale
prices for e-books, lower prices for print boosispther consequences the publishers hoped to
avoid. Each Publisher Defendatdsired higher retail e-book pricasross the industry before
“$9.99” became an entrenched consumxgeetation. By the end of 2009, however, the
Publisher Defendants had camgéd that unilateral efforts tnove Amazon away from its
practice of offering low retail pces would not work, and they theftea conspired to raise retail
e-book prices and to otherwise limit competitiorihe sale of e-books. To effectuate their
conspiracy, the Publisher Defendants teameditipDefendant Apple, which shared the same
goal of restraining retail price comiition in the sale of e-books.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Except as staitethis Response, Penguin denies the
allegations contained in paragraph 3. Pemgonsistently has embraced eBooks and views
eBooks as an important opportunity to increasessé#oth in volume and in diversity. As
Penguin Group (USA)'s CEO David Shankdifesd during the DOJ investigation:

[O]ver the 30 years that I'veebn in the business there are far
fewer places to purchase books thar¢hwere in the past and this

opportunity that the internet gving our industry and the
consumer of having an unlimited amount of places to buy books is



great for the book business aneelfultimately will be great for
the consumer, but only having one place to buy eBooks doesn't
seem to make sense to me, to Penguin

Penguin admits that it viewed some of Amm@a’s business practices, most especially its
practice of sometimes selling newaate eBooks and eBooks versionbleiv York Times
bestselling titles well below the prices paglAmazon to Penguin for these eBook titles, as
anticompetitive and detrimental to the laiegm process of expding opportunities for
developing authors and creating moomtent. As the Complaint ¢areful to avoid stating, prior
to Apple’s entry, Amazon’s share of eBookesawas 80 to 90 percent. This dominant
monopolist position, coupled with a strategy of satesow cost —or “loss-leading”— raised
barriers to entry for other actuand potential distributors @Books, including both online and
traditional bookstores (referred to in the industsy‘brick-and-mortar” sellers). While Amazon
undoubtedly may have furthered its own interestssing eBook best sellers as loss leaders to
install itself as a permanent monopolist and sekKindle (a closed des#), it threatened the
long-term, overall health of the book publishindustry by creating barriers to entry,
undercutting the margins and incenes of other sellers, fostag a perception of eBooks as low-
cost commodities, and threatening the viabibtypook publishers and authors, as well as other
book selling outlets vital to the marketing and promotion of books. Penguin was especially
concerned about brick-and-mortar outleke IBorders and Barnes & Noble that have

traditionally played a critical role in markeg book titles and encouraging the discovery and

! Amazon was anonopolistas far as sales of eBooksifeeReaders) to consumers were
concerned because Amazon controlled approxisn8@s of those sales and imposed barriers
for new retailers to enter the market, but alsocopsonison the supply side because Amazon
controlled approximately 90% of the purchaséeBooks as far as publisher/ manufacturers
were concerned. “Monopolist” is usdtroughout for ease of reference.



development of new authors and titles. Amagamie-size-fits-all practice of pricing certain
titles at_certairtimes at $9.99 also incortcsignaled that these eBookere of equal value.
Books are not widgets. Each has its own unigeedliy, cultural and other intellectual value;
each has its own unique production costs, drivengily by the craft of authorship and each
author’s muse; each has its own uniquearast appeal, with no single book title being an
actual direct substita for another.

ALLEGATION 4. The Defendants’ conspiracy to limit e-book price competition
came together as the Publisher Defendants yoently devising schemes to limit Amazon’s
ability to discount e- books and Defendant Applas preparing to lauhdts electronic tablet,
the iPad, and considering whether it should sdiboks that could be read on the new device.
Apple had long believed it would be abletmunce Amazon by opening up [its] own ebook
store,” but the intense price competition thegvailed among e-book rd&xs in late 2009 had
driven the retail price of popular e-books to $%9@ had reduced retailer margins on e-books to
levels that Apple found unattractive. As a result of discussions with the Publisher Defendants,
Apple learned that the Publisher Defendantsextharcommon objective with Apple to limit e-
book retail price competition, and that the Publidbefendants also desired to have popular e-
book retail prices stabilezat levels significantly higherah $9.99. Together, Apple and the
Publisher Defendants reached an agreement whereby retail price competition would cease
(which all the conspirators desd), retail e-book prices woulddrease significantly (which the
Publisher Defendants desired), and Apple would be guaranteed a 30 percent “commission” on
each e-book it sold (which Apple desired).

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegations containeinh paragraph 4.

To the contrary, Penguin neither devised nor gadan any joint “scheme” with other publishers



related to Amazon. In fact, in December 2009, at the very time Penguin first learned that Apple
was considering launching its iBookstore, Penguin was not “windowing” eBooks (i.e., delaying
the introduction of an eBook versiofa title when a hardcover version is first released); nor did
it ever have plans to do so. Penguin’s businelawer was contrary tthat undertaken by other
publishers. If windowing eBooks one of the “schemes” that is supposed to demonstrate a
conspiracy, Penguin’s very public stance nawtedow eBooks proves Rguin was not part of

the claimed publisher conspiracy.

Although Penguin is without information or knowtge as to the beliefs of Apple in this
regard, Penguin notes that it was not “intenseeprompetition” that drove “the retail price of
popular eBooks to $9.99,” but raththe predatory, below-cggticing practices of monopolist
retailer Amazon? apparently designed to exclude coitpen and control the pricing of eBooks,
that was the reason for the $9.99 ppoint for certain eBook titles. i self evident that Apple,
like any potential entrant, would not have fowtttactive the prospect of selling eBooks at a
loss. However, Penguin viewed Apple’s posséi&y as a way to broaden its distribution and
increase output—not to mention that no businesssts to depend on one distributor for 80 to 90
percent of its sales.

Hence, Penguin and Apple shared the caomiwbjective of opening a successful and
viable iBookstore and making eBks available to the tens ofillions of Apple customers.

Penguin wanted to foster broader distributionl a broader market for eBooks by sponsoring
new entry, new innovation, and new typesmanced eBooks (such as Penguin’s enhanced

version of A.A. Milne’s classi®Vinnie the Poohwhich is pre-loaded as a complementary eBook




on every iPad) that were previously nosgible because the Amazon Kindle was not then
capable of accommodating colorather enhancements. Thisarest was “joint” only in the
sense that a successful iBookstore had to hawdeaand diverse range of tittes—which required
that multiple publishers agree to provide content to Apple.

Penguin also denies the Complaint’s conclustagements about diminished retail price
competition. Price competition did not “cease” under the agency model; it has simply moved to
the manufacturer (publisher) levelttvregard to publishers that have adopted that model. And
rather than having one price for certain categoof eBook titles set by monopolist distributor
(Amazon), under the agency model there is dynamic eBook pricing determined by each publisher
based on each specific title. Moreover, vevat the effect on Penguin’s pricing, other
publishers, retailers, and even self-publishati@ns’ retail price comgtition continues.

Penguin admits that it agreed to pay Appleommission to distribute Penguin eBooks in
order to incentivize Apple to enter. As a feésunder the agency moldéhe amount of money
that Penguin receives on a per title basissich eBook is significaly less than under the
retail/wholesale model.

The reason that Penguin was willing to acceptiegsnue on a per unit basis was that at
the time of Apple’s entry, Penguin’s interrmlsiness analysis showed that by moving to the
agency model and making it profitable for otbestributors to enter or become more viable,
Penguin’s overall sales volume would increa&e.Penguin Group (USA) Inc. CEO David
Shanks testified during the DOJ investigation:

We had our finance people do an gsa of what it would mean to
our revenues to just plug in tagency pricing scheme versus the
wholesale model ... and what ibwld mean to us because it was
going to generate less revenue on a pure one for one basis. So the

discussion was around what kindliéf we would get by having
more the availability of having me players in the mix than just



Amazon and Sony .... [W]e fetbhat there were so many

additional players that we ang@ted could come in once they
were reasonably assured thaythwould not lose money selling e-
books that we could make that up, make up the fact that we were
making less money.

ALLEGATION 5.  To accomplish the goal of ramg e-book prices and otherwise
limiting retail competition for e-books, Apple atite Publisher Defendants jointly agreed to
alter the business model governthg relationship between publiseeand retailersPrior to the
conspiracy, both print booksid e-books were sold under loagstanding “wholesale model.”
Under this model, publishers sdddoks to retailers, and retase as the owners of the books,
had the freedom to establish retail prices. Defatsdavere determined to end the robust retail
price competition in e-books that prevaileditie benefit of consumers, under the wholesale
model. They therefore agreedntly to replace the wholesataodel for selling e-books with an
“agency model.” Under the agency model, publishveould take contradf retail pricing by
appointing retailers as “agent@ho would have no power tdter the retail pices set by the
publishers. As a result, the publishers could etk competition among retailers and raise the
prices consumers pay for e- books through the amlopfiidentical pricing tiers. This change in
business model would not have occurreduiit the conspiracy among the Defendants.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegations containeinh paragraph 5.
Penguin did not make an agreement with afgiopublisher related the agency model; it
entered into a vertical dridbution agreement with Applef-urther, there was nothing
“longstanding” about the wholesale model asliapgpto eBooks, a line of business still in its
infancy. Indeed, Penguin was selling eBookedally to the consumer through its own website

(and setting its own prices) pritw the “adoption” of the agenaywodel, which was clearly not a

“wholesale model.” Penguin was also sell@i®poks through the Apple App Store under the



agency model prior to the introdian of the iPad. Besides,dte is no reason to assume that
what was the business practice for print books shbaVve been ipso facto the business practice
for eBooks. Indeed, the complaaiteges that eBooks are a contplg separate product market
from print books. The allegation that thereswebbust retail price congtition” prior to the
adoption of the agency model ignores the indeiplat fact that the “competition” was nothing
more than the below-cost, predatory, mad@trination strategy of a monopolist distributor.
Moreover, the agency model is and has lebgitimate and accepted business model since well
before the enactment of the Sherman Act arsdoen routinely upheld as a presumptive and
preferred method by courts, inding the Supreme Court.

Finally, Penguin denies that it ended repaite competition by entering into an agency
agreement with Apple. Penguin simply becdheeseller of its own eBook titles with pricing
authority, subject to e ceilings that were insisted upby Apple. Penguin not surprisingly
resisted the imposition of the price ceilirdyging its negotigons with Apple.

ALLEGATION 6.  Apple facilitated the Publisher Defdants’ collective effort to end
retail price competition by coordinating their tsétion to an agency model across all retailers.
Apple clearly understood that pp&rticipation in this schemeowld result in higher prices to
consumers. As Apple CEO Steve Jobs descliiedompany’s strategy for negotiating with the
Publisher Defendants, “We’ll go to [an] agemapdel, where you set theice, and we get our
30%, and yes, the customer pays a little more, but that’s what you want anyway.” Apple was
perfectly willing to help the Publisher Defemds obtain their objectivef higher prices for
consumers by ending Amazon'’s “$9.99” price pergras long as Apple was guaranteed its 30

percent margin and could avoid riefaice competition from Amazon.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegations containeish paragraph 6.
Retail price competition has not ended north@t matter has competition among agents ended
either. Penguin, as the direct sellinder the agency model, competes at the retail level. As for
the agents, Apple competes agdiAmazon, both at the deviceréd (eReader)rad with regard
to the strength of their resptive eBook stores. Penguin ighwut knowledge of Steve Jobs’
business strategy, and on thasibalenies those allegations.

ALLEGATION 7.  The plan — what Apple proudly described as an “aikido move” —
worked. Over three days in January 2010, eaddtisher Defendant entered into a functionally
identical agency contract witkpple that would go into effedimultaneously in April 2010 and
“chang[e] the industry permanently.” Theé'¥gple Agency Agreements” conferred on the
Publisher Defendants the power to set Apple’sirpteces for e-books, while granting Apple the
assurance that the Publisher Defendants would raise retadkepbices at all other e-book
outlets, too. Instead of $9.99, electimwersions of bestsellers and newly released titles would be
priced according to a set of price tiers contdiimeeach of the Apple Agency Agreements that
determined de facto retail e-book prices as a function of the title’'sdadlist price. All
bestselling and newly released titles l@a hardcover list re between $25.01 and $35.00,
for example, would be priced at $12.99, $14.9%16.99, with the retail e-book price increasing
in relation to the hardcover list price.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitatton January 25, 2010 it entered into a
distribution agreement with Apple, which provedinat “Publisher hereby appoints Apple as its
non-exclusive agent for the marketing antivdey of eBooks through the Online Store on
Publisher’s behalf in the Territory to end-uséor their personal, non-commercial use, and Apple

accepts such appointment.” Under that Agrednfeenguin retained itegal right to set the
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price for its own titles, subject @ set of complicated price deijs and a provision insisted upon
by Apple to enable it to alway®mpete with the lowest eBookiges in the marketplace (which
the government characterizes as a “most Evoation” clause), which was essentially a
contractual obligation ndb price discriminate against Apple—an obligation that notably already
exists in the context of most wholesale/reteliationships under feddrantitrust law in the
Robinson Patman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 13.

Under one set of price ceilings that applogdly to eBooks associated with New Release
hardcover titles, Penguin’s prices were limibgdan Apple-dictated formula based on Penguin’s
list prices for the hard cover rgon of the book. However, if any such title became listed on one
of forty-two (42) defined slots on tiidew York TimeBestseller List, the maximum price
ceilings dropped even lower. Likewise, &l books published in mass market or trade
paperback editions on or aftelarch 15, 2010 with a suggestist price of $22.00 or less,
Penguin was subject to a price ceiling of $9.99shart, the pricindormula insisted upon by
Apple and agreed to by Penguin was a maximugepgstriction and Penguhad full discretion
to set its eBook prices at anyé below these price ceilings.

Penguin’s eBook prices for New Release hardctitles were also subject to a price
protection or MFN term. That term stat¢€ommencing March 15, 2010, or the date on which
Apple begins marketing and soliciting orders éBooks in the Online Store, whichever occurs
later, if, for any particular Newelease in hardcover format, the then-current Customer Price at
any time is or becomes higher than the a cust@rice offered by any other reseller (“Other
Customer Price”) then Publisher shall designatew, lower Customer Price to meet such lower
Other Customer Price.” Penguin specifically @srthat its distributin agreement with Apple

required that Penguin would raise retlook prices at all other eBook outlets.
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Otherwise, Penguin had complete discretiomow to set its prices, including the prices
for eBooks associated with hardcover new redsasgith a list pricever $30.00, hardcovers
released at least twelve mbaf all paperback editions bboks published before March 15,
2010, all paperback books witHist price over $22.00 (whenever published), and graphical or
illustrative books, such as children’s titles.

Penguin otherwise denies the allegas contained in paragraph 7.

ALLEGATION 8.  After executing the Apple Agency Agreements, the Publisher
Defendants all then quickly acted to comphkbie scheme by imposing agency agreements on all
their other retailers. As a dire@sult, those retailers lost their ability to compete on price,
including their abity to sell the most popular e-books %$.99 or for other low prices. Once in
control of retail prices, the Publisherf@radants limited retail price competition among
themselves. Millions of e- books that would haedd at retail for $9.99 or for other low prices
instead sold for the prices indicated by piiee schedules included in the Apple Agency
Agreements—generally, $12.99 or $14.99. Oth&repand non-price competition among e-book
publishers and among e-book retailers also was unlgvdliminated to the detriment of U.S.
consumers.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegations containeih paragraph 8.

For Penguin, every potential agent with éxeeption of one—Amazon—welcomed Penguin’s
offer to move to the agency model for eBoogtdbution and negotiated an agency agreement
with Penguin.

Under the agency model, price competiti@s moved from the tal level to the
publisher level. Price and non-pricengeetition both among publisher and among eBook

retailers has exponentialigcreased as a result of the move to the agency model. For example,
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there is more dynamic pricing of eBooks, whicls hesulted in lower consumer prices on many,
many eBook titles, more robust competition & device level in termsf both the cost and

variety of eReading devices, handsome and imaginative enhanced, full-color eBooks, which did
not even exist as a category before A&pptroduced the iPadnd more vibrant and

differentiated marketing of eBooky Penguin’s agents, all toetbenefit of consumers.

ALLEGATION 9.  The purpose of this lawsuit is émjoin the Publisher Defendants
and Apple from further violations of the nation’digmist laws and to restore the competition that
has been lost due to the Publisbefendants’ and Apple’s illegal acts.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegdtions containeih paragraph 9 and
avers that the remedies that Plaintiff seek$im lawsuit, if implemented by the Court, could
result in the re-establishment of Amazon astthitally dominant monopolist and the elimination
of many or most competite in eBook retailing.

ALLEGATION 10. Defendants’ ongoing conspiraend agreement have caused e-
book consumers to pay tens of millions of dollaere for e-books than they otherwise would
have paid.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies tHegations containeth paragraph 10.
Penguin did not participate in artspiracy or enter into an @gment with other publishers.
Penguin entered vertical agency agreemeiitsApple and other agents. These agency
agreements have resulted in more dynamic &Roicing (with some eBook prices going up and
some eBook prices going down from priices charged by monopolist Amazon), more
dynamism in the market generally, new, lower-priced and more frequently improved eReading
devices, enhanced eBooks, increased overglubwf sales and number of eBooks titles, and

greater consumer choice.
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ALLEGATION 11. The United States, through this suit, asks this Court to declare
Defendants’ conduct illegal and to enter injunctive relief to prevent further injury to consumers
in the United States.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tthas is the relief the United States
seeks, but denies that the relief sought will preugary to consumers. To the contrary, if the
relief sought by the United States were to be gaaritas relief is likely taresult in restoring and
reinforcing Amazon’s monopoly power in the eBaekailing, weakening and eliminating other

eBook retailers, and reduction in competitin terms of both price and service.

[I. DEFENDANTS

ALLEGATION 12. Apple, Inc. has its principal pte of business at 1 Infinite Loop,
Cupertino, CA 95014. Among many other busines&pgle, Inc. distributes e-books through its
iBookstore.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits gliegations contained in paragraph 12,
except denies knowledge that 1 Infinite LoQupertino, CA 95014 is the principal place of
business of Apple, Inc.

ALLEGATION 13. Hachette Book Group, Inc. has jggncipal place of business at
237 Park Avenue, New York, NY 10017. It publisreebooks and print lo&s through publishers
such as Little, Brown, and Compy and Grand Central Publishing.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits gllegations contained in paragraph 13,
except denies knowledge that 237 Park Avenuleggrincipal place dbusiness of Hachette

Book Group, Inc.
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ALLEGATION 14. HarperCollins Publishers L.L.C. has its principal place of business
at 10 E. 53rd Street, New York, NY 10022pltblishes e-bookand print books through
publishers such as Harper and William Morrow.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits gllegations contained in paragraph 14,
except denies knowledge that 10 E. 53rdeStiethe principaplace of business of
HarperCollins Publishers L.L.C.

ALLEGATION 15. Holtzbrinck Publishers, LLC d/b/a Macmillan has its principal
place of business at 175 Fifth Avenue, Nk, NY 10010. It publishes e-books and print
books through publishers such as Farrar, Straus and Giroux and St. Martin’s Press. Verlagsgruppe
Georg von Holtzbrinck GmbH owns HoltzbrinBkiblishers, LLC d/b/a Macmillan and has its
principal place of business at Gansheidestral3e 26, Stuttgart 70184, Germany.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguis without knowledgeas to the allegations
contained in paragraph Bnd therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 16. Penguin Group (USA), Inc. has fisincipal place of business at
375 Hudson Street, New York, NY 10014. It fishes e-books and print books through
publishers such as The Viking Press and Gotham Books. Penguin Group (USA), Inc. is the
United States affiliate of The Penguin Group, agion of Pearson plc, which has its principal
place of business at 80 Strand, London WC2R ORL, United Kingdom.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Admit.

ALLEGATION 17. Simon & Schuster, Inc. has itsipeipal place of business at 1230
Avenue of the Americas, New York, NM0020. It publishes e-books and print books through

publishers such as Free Press and Touchstone.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits gllegations contained in paragraph 17,
except denies knowledge that 1230 AvenuthefAmericas, New York, NY 10020 is the

principal place of businesd Simon & Schuster, Inc.

[1l. JURISDICTION, VENUE, AND INTERSTATE COMMERCE

ALLEGATION 18. Plaintiff United States of America brings this action pursuant to
Section 4 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. 8 4, taiobtquitable relief and other relief to prevent
and restrain Defendants’ vadlons of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C § 1.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tR&intiff United States of America
purports to bring this action puot to Section 4 of the Shermaat, but denies the remaining
allegations contained in paragraph 18.

ALLEGATION 19. This Court has subject matterigdiction over tis action under
Section 4 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 4, and 28 U.S.C. 88 1331,1337(a), and 1345.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: The allegations @ined in paragraph 19 purport to state a
legal conclusion and no respaorespleading is required.

ALLEGATION 20. This Court has personal jurisdiction over each Defendant and
venue is proper in the Southddistrict of New York under Section 12 of the Clayton Act, 15
U.S.C. 8§ 22, and 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because Pattndant transacts business and is found
within the Southern District of New York. ThéS. component of each Publisher Defendant is
headquartered in the Southern District of New York, and acts in funtteed the conspiracy
occurred in this District. Many thousandstioé Publisher Defendants’ e-books are and have

been sold in this District, inclirig through Defendant Apple’s iBookstore.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thatsonal jurisdiction and venue is
proper in the Southern District of New York athét many active readers live and work here but
otherwise denies the allegatis contain in paragraph 20.

ALLEGATION 21. Defendants are engaged in, andrthetivities substantially affect,
interstate trade and commerce. The Pabliefendants sell e-books throughout the United
States. Their e- books represent a substaralunt of interstate commerce. In 2010, United
States consumers paid more than $300 milliorife Publisher Defendants’ e-books, including
more than $40 million for e-books licemstrough Defendant Apple’s iBookstore.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE:

Penguin admits that its business activitiesssantially affect interstate trade and
commerce in the United States. Penguin lacksnmation or knowledge regarding the statistics

cited in paragraph 21 ankerefore denies them.

V. CO-CONSPIRATORS

ALLEGATION 22. Various persons, who are known and unknown to Plaintiff, and not
named as defendants in this action, includingsesecutives of the Publisher Defendants and
Apple, have participated as co-conspiratoits \Wefendants in the offense alleged and have
performed acts and made statements in furtherance of the conspiracy.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

V. THE PUBLISHING INDUSTRY ANDBACKGROUND OF THE CONSPIRACY

A. Print Books

ALLEGATION 23. Authors submit books to publishersmanuscript form. Publishers
edit manuscripts, print and bind books, provideetising and related marketing services,

decide when a book should be released for aatkdistribute books tohlwlesalers and retailers.

18



Publishers also determine the cover pricdist price” of a book, and typically that price
appears on the book’s cover.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies that Allegatioad3juately describes the
publishing industry. Prior to manuscript sussmon, publishers often consult with and advise
authors on subject matter and style. In alnaishstances, there are also literary agents who
work on behalf of authors and play a materidé in the publication mcess. Penguin admits
that as a publisher, Penguin edits manuscripts, hires third garpest and bind books,
provides advertising and markagi for its authors and titlesnd distributes books to retailers
and wholesalers. Publishers liRenguin also maintain sales f&db sell books to retail and on-
line stores, and also to obtain customer viewshe marketplace generally and for particular
titles and authors. Penguin diées what the list prices shouldd, and (including sometimes in
consultation with the literary agerdaad author), when its titles shdude released for sale.

ALLEGATION 24. Retailers purchase print books dilg from publishers, or through
wholesale distributors, and rdshem to consumers. Retailers typically purchase print books
under the “wholesale model.” Under that modefailers pay publishers approximately one-half
of the list price of books, take owrséip of the books, then resell them to consumers at prices of
the retailer’s choice. Publishers have soldtgrooks to retailers thugh the wholesale model
for over 100 years and continue to do so today.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguinwsthout knowledge as tilve specific details of
how any other publisher sells its books undethalesale model and therefore denies those
allegations contained in paragha24. Penguin admits that retailers purchase print books either
directly from Penguin or tmugh a wholesaler, and then riés¢he books to consumers.

Penguin’s wholesale contracts witttailers and wholesalers diff generally, the price that
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retailers or wholesalers pay isaut half of the lisprice of the book. Retailers and wholesalers
have discretion to set the retpiice of print books. Retaileesd wholesalers also typically
have the right to return unsqgbdint books to Paguin for credit.

B. E-books

ALLEGATION 25. E-books are books published in electronic formats. E-book
publishers avoid some of the expenses irezliin producing and sliributing print books,
including most manufacturing expenses, warelmguexpenses, distribution expenses, and costs
of dealing with unsold stock.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin adnthsit eBooks are books published in
electronic formats and that a small percentafgbe costs of producing print books are saved
with eBooks, but otherwise generally denies élegations contained paragraph 25.

ALLEGATION 26. Consumers purchase e-bookotigh websites of e-book retailers
or through applications loaded onto their regdilevices. Such electrandistribution allows e-
book retailers to avoid certaixmenses they incur when thegll print books, including most
warehousing expenses adligtribution expenses.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that consumers can purchaser eBooks
through various methods and that some costiistributing eBooks versus print books are both
higher and lower but otherwiserggrally denies the allegationentained in paragraph 26.

ALLEGATION 27. From its very small base in 2007 at the time of Amazon’s Kindle
launch, the e- book market has exploded, reggieriple-digit sales growth each year. E-books
now constitute at least ten pent of general interest fioin and non-fiction books (commonly
known as “trade” booK¥ sold in the United States and arelel predicted to reach at least 25

percent of U.S. trade books salgithin two to three years.
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GOVERNMENT FN 1: Non-trade e-books inckidlectronic versias of children's
picture books and academic textbooks, referencderrabs, and other specialized texts that
typically are published by separate imprints frisade books, often are sold through separate
channels, and are not reasonably substitutable for trade e-books.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitaitits sales of eBooks have grown
tremendously since their introduction andceipple’s entry. Penguin lacks sufficient
knowledge or information to respond to theneening allegation in paragraph 27 & footnote 1

and therefore denies them.

C. Publisher Defendants and “The $9.99 Problem”

ALLEGATION 28. The Publisher Defendants compatginst each other for sales of
trade e-books to consumers. Publishers bairet) one another for print- and electronic-
publishing rights to content that they expedt ¢ most successful in the market. They also
compete against each other in bringing those ®tomknarket. For example, in addition to price-
setting, they create cover artchother on-book sales inducementg] also engage in advertising
campaigns for some titles.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: The allegatioosntained in paragraph 28 are over-
simplified and inaccurate in a number of ress: books are not widgets; they are highly
differentiated written works imbued with literary, cultural, and intellectual significance. The
allegations in paragraph 28 are therefore eélniPenguin, under the agency model, presently
sells its eBook titles to consunsatirectly using its agent®ther entities, including other
publishers, online sellers like Amazon.com, brick-andtarcstores, authors, or others also sell
non-Penguin eBook trade titles to consumerdfeRnt tittes may or may not have any

comparative competitive significance. The vasjamiy of eBook titles a& not, in the minds of
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consumers, publishers, or bookstores, substitiwteone another. For example, Deadlocked

from the Sookie Stackhouse Series by Charlbiaeis (published by the Ace imprint of Penguin
Group (USA)) is hardly is aubstitute for Steve Jolthe biography by Walter Isaacson
(published by Simon & Schus)e—yet both are currentidew York TimeBestsellers. Penguin
also admits that there is a measure of cditpe between itself andther publishers in the
seeking of publishing rights, but this competitiomi:mio material way affected by the vertical
relationship between plibhers and agents.

ALLEGATION 29. The Publisher Defendants are fiviethe six largest publishers of
trade books in the United States. They publish tisé majority of their nely released titles as
both print books and e-books. Publisher Deferslaompete against eacthet in the sales of
both trade print bookand trade e-books.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tisabelieves that by certain measures it
is the second largest trade publisher in the United States and that the other four Publisher
Defendants represent numbers ¢htlerough six. Penguin further aidsnt is Penguin’s policy to
release most new trade titleshath print and Ebook format and to do so at the same time.
Penguin otherwise denies the alleégas contained in paragraph 29.

ALLEGATION 30. When Amazon launched its Kindle device, it offered newly
released and bestselling e-books to conssifeer$9.99. At that time, Publisher Defendants
routinely wholesaled those e-books for about slaae price, which typically was less than the
wholesale price of the hardcover versions of the same titles, reflecting publisher cost savings
associated with the electronic format. From time of its launch, Amazon’s e-book distribution
business has been consistently profitable, eveen substantially discounting some newly

released and bestselling titles.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that for some period of time, Amazon
offered_somenew release and otheBook titles for approximately $9.99 for soperiod of time
after the date of release. However, Pengi@nies that this practice was by any means
consistent. For some significant points inlifeecycle of nearly every new release eBook, the
price at Amazon.com might be as high as $1619®0re—significantly igher than new release
eBooks are ever priced under Peinfuagency agreements. Pengalso denies the allegation
that its wholesale prices for eBooks werbdat th[e] same” as Aman’s $9.99 price point or
that its wholesale prices for eBooks reflegbedblisher cost savingssociated with the
electronic format in any way: Penguin roelynwholesaled eBooks for the same price it
wholesaled print books—for hadf the list price printed on éhcover—and this reflected the
reality of the publishing business, which inve$vfixed costs associated with each individual
book title no matter what the format. Pengusoalenies that Amazon’s $9.99 pricing, when it
occurred, involved anything oth#tran selling product at loss. Penguin isithout information
as to the profitability of Amazon’s “e-book digtution business,” but wdd suspect that it
depends on how that “business’defined and whether it inales sales of Amazon’s eReading
device, the Kindle. To the extent the allegatin paragraph 31 about Amazon'’s profitability is
based on both sales of eBooks and salesedkihdle, it contradicts the product market
definition in the Complainthat the market consssof all trade eBooks.

ALLEGATION 31. To compete with Amazon, otherb®ok retailers dén matched or
approached Amazon’s $9.99-or-less pricesftook versions of new releases &felv York
Timesbestsellers. As a result of that competiticonsumers benefited from Amazon’s $9.99-or-

less e-book prices even if they purchasdaboks from competing e-book retailers.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that other eBook retailers were forced into
a position of selling certain eBodikles at a loss because of thelow-cost pricing practices of
monopolist retailer Amazon, but denies the rienng allegations contained in paragraph 31,
including that this situation was representat’écompetition,” or fostered the type of real
consumer benefits that are apparent under the agency model.

ALLEGATION 32. The Publisher Defendants feared that $9.99 would become the
standard price for newly released and $&lihg e-books. For example, one Publisher
Defendant’'s CEO bemoaned the “wretc§8d99 price point” an®enguin USA CEO David
Shanks worried that e-book pricifican’t be $9.99 for hardcovers.”

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thatxecutives were concerned that
Amazon’s below-cost pricing strategy for certain new release titles would be detrimental to the
long term health of the book industry, inclagiby devaluing books and treating them as one-
size-fits-all widgets rather than igne, individually crafted productsaising barriers to entry for
other distributors, and destroying the value chiaét supports authors, exgts, book sellers (both
on and offline) and publishers, angpather industry paidipants. Penguin fther admits that on
December 2, 2009, Penguin USA CEO David Shankde a personal email to Glen Moreno,
Chairman of the Board of Pearson PLC, welocapthe advent of eBooks and commenting about
how much he personally enjoyed reading eBamkéis Kindle and Mr. Shanks opined:

When you think about the lack ofailability of English language
books (or any books for that matter)the rest of the world, the
potential is great. We have bave a proliferation of reading
devices, be they single purposaders or mobile phones or small
tablet laptops first. Then ebooksuid be something. We also have
to hassle out the ebook pricing model. It can’t be $9.99 for
hardcovers. Still a lot of shaig out to do but the potential is

there.

Penguin otherwise denies the remainiriggaltions contained in paragraph 32.
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ALLEGATION 33. The Publisher Defendants belesl/the low prices for newly
released and bestselling e-books were digngptie industry. The Amazon-led $9.99 retail price
point for the most popular e-books troubled thblRher Defendants because, at $9.99, most of
these e-book titles were priced substantially lotkan hardcover versions of the same title. The
Publisher Defendants were concerned these levizerok prices would leao the “deflation” of
hardcover book prices, with accompanying dectimrevenues for publishers. The Publisher
Defendants also worried that if $9.99 solidifiedfaes consumers’ expected retail price for e-
books, Amazon and other retailers would demaatighblishers lower #ir wholesale prices,
further compressing publisher profit margins.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thatakecutives were concerned that Amazon’s
below-cost pricing strategy for ¢ain new release titles would detrimental to the long term
health of the book industry, including by devatuivooks and treating them as one-size-fits-all
widgets rather than unique, indlually crafted products, raisjy barriers to entry for other
distributors, and destroying thalue chain that suppisrauthors, agentbook sellers (both on
and offline) and publishers, among other induptsticipants. Penguin otherwise denies the
remaining allegations caomihed in paragraph 33.

ALLEGATION 34. The Publisher Defendants alsaffed that the $9.99 price point
would make e- books so poputaat digital publishers coulgchieve sufficient scale to
challenge the major incumbent publishers’ basic business model. The Publisher Defendants were
especially concerned that Amazon was welitpsed to enter the digital publishing business
and thereby supplant publishas intermediaries between authors and consumers. Amazon had,
in fact, taken steps to do smntracting directly with autherto publish their works as e-books—

at a higher royalty rate thahe Publisher Defendants offered. Amazon’s move threatened the
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Publisher Defendants’ traditional positions as the gate-keepers of the publishing world. The
Publisher Defendants also feared that other catiygeadvantages they likas a result of years
of investments in their prifdook businesses would erode and, &vaity, become irrelevant, as
e-book sales continued to grow.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienies the allegations of paragraph 34 as they
relate to Penguin and lacks sufficient infotima or knowledge regarding the state of mind of
other publishers and therefore derties allegations in paragraph 34.

D. Publisher Defendants Recognize They Cannot Solve “The
$9.99 Problem” Alone

ALLEGATION 35. Each Publisher Defendant knevathacting alone, it could not
compel Amazon to raise e-book prices and that & ma& in its economic self-interest to attempt
unilaterally to raise retail e-bogkices. Each Publisher Defemdaelied on Amazon to market
and distribute its e- books, and each Publifrefendant believed Amazon would leverage its
position as a large retailer to preserve itsigitib compete and would resist any individual
publisher’s attempt to raise the prices atohiAmazon sold that publisher’s e-books. As one
Publisher Defendant executive acknowledgedaom’s bargaining strength, “we’ve always
known that unless other publishers follow us, éfeeno chance of success in getting Amazon to
change its pricing practices.” In the same ignti@ae executive wroté'without a critical mass
behind us Amazon won't ‘negotiate,” so weedl to be more confident of how our fellow
publishers will react....”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitsvis concerned that the number of
retailers was shrinking rapidlynd that their share &fales were being largely absorbed by
Amazon. Penguin also had extensive experigritteAmazon that convinced Penguin that

dealing with a new and credible retailer likpge would probably provokserious retaliation by
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Amazon. Penguin otherwise denthe allegations regarding iguin in paragraph 35. Penguin
is without information or knowlige regarding the allegationsntained in paragraph 35 about
other publishers and therefatenies those allegations.

ALLEGATION 36. Each Publisher Defendant also rgoized that it would lose sales
if retail prices increa=d for only its e-books while thehwr Publisher Defendants’ e-books
remained competitively priced. In addition, higlpeices for just one publisher’s e-books would
not change consumer perceptions enough to gleverosion of consuen-perceived value of
books that all the Publisher Defendants feavedld result from Amazon’s $9.99 pricing policy.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienies the allegations of paragraph 36 as they
relate to Penguin and lacks sufficient infotima or knowledge regarding the state of mind of
other publishers and therefore derties allegations in paragraph 36.

DEFENDANTS’ UNLAWFUL ACTIVITIES

ALLEGATION 37. Beginning no later than September 2008, the Publisher
Defendants’ senior executives eggd in a series of meetings, telephone conversations and other
communications in which they jointly acknowledgedeach other the threat posed by Amazon’s
pricing strategy and the need tonwaollectively to end that stiregy. By the end of the summer
of 2009, the Publisher Defendants had agreedttaollectively tdorce up Amazon'’s retalil
prices and thereafter considered and implaeak various means to accomplish that goal,
including moving under the guise afjoint venture. Ultimatelyin late 2009, Apple and the
Publisher Defendants settled oe trategy that worked—replacitite wholesale model with an
agency model that gave the Publisher Defatglthe power to ragsretail e-book prices
themselves.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.
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ALLEGATION 38. The evidence showing conspirasysubstantisand includes:

. Practices facilitating a horizontal conspiracyhe Publisher
Defendants regularly communicated with each other in private
conversations, both in person amthe telephone, and in e-mails
to each other to exchange sensitiformation and assurances of
solidarity to advance the ends of the conspiracy.

. Direct evidence of a conspiracfhe Publisher Defendants
directly discussed, agreed smd encouraged each other to
collective action to force Amazon taise its retail e-book prices.

. Recognition of illicit nature of communicatian®ublisher
Defendants took steps to conctéadir communications with one
another, including instructions tdouble delete” e-mail and taking
other measures to avdighving a paper trail.

. Acts contrary to economic interestdk would have been contrary
to the economic interests of any Publisher Defendant acting alone
to attempt to impose agency on all of its retailers and then raise its
retail e-book prices. For armple, Penguin Group CEO John
Makinson reported to his parentepany board of directors that
“the industry needs to develapcommon strategy” to address the
threat “from digital compangewhose objective may be to
disintermediate traditional publisrs altogether” because it “will
not be possible for any individugliblisher to mount an effective
response,” and Penguin later atled that it would have been
economically disadvantaged if‘was the only publisher dealing
with Apple under the new business model.”

. Motive to enter the conspiracycdding knowledge or assurances
that competitors also will entefThe Publisher Defendants were
motivated by a desire to maintdioth the perceived value of their
books and their own position the industry. They received
assurances from both each othed Apple that they all would
move together to raise retaibe@ok prices. Apple was motivated to
ensure that it would not face competition from Amazon'’s low-price
retail strategy.

. Abrupt, contemporaneousitirom past behavior Prior to
January 23, 2010, all PublisherfBrdants sold their e-books
under the traditional wholesale model; by January 25,2010, all
Publisher Defendants had irrevocably committed to transition all of
their retailers to the agency model (and Apple had committed to
sell e-books on a model inconsisterith the way it sells the vast
bulk of the digital media it offens its iTunes store). On April 3,
2010, as soon as the Apple Agency Agreements simultaneously
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became effective, all Publisher f2adants immediately used their
new retail pricing authority to raise the retail prices of their newly
released and bestselling e-bodishe common ostensible
maximum prices contained in their Apple Agency Agreements.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE:

Penguin denies that the conclusory statdmeontained in pagaaph 38 are “evidence”

of a conspiracy involving Penguin.

e Penguin specifically denies that Penguin communicatedotliter publishers to
exchange sensitive information or othemviacilitate the alleged conspiracy.

e Penguin specifically denies that it hatd/aagreement with other publishers to force
Amazon to raise its retail prices—an allega that is completely conclusory.

e Penguin specifically denies that it tookss to conceal any communications, and is
without knowledge as to éise allegations regardinghet publishers and therefore
denies them.

e Penguin admits that it believed that Apple could not have a successful iBookstore
without the participation aéind supply of books from other publishers, because if the
iBookstore’s inventory was limited to ondysmall percentage of available eBooks,
the iBookstore would almost certainly faPenguin did not wartb sell its eBooks in
a bookstore that was bound to fail; howeWsnguin denies that it was against
Penguin’s economic self interest to ta#teps to expand its eBook distribution,
regardless of what other publishers did. RertPenguin specifidgldenies that the
document selectively quoted above—excerpted out of context from a 2009 Penguin
Strategic Plan prepared on August 4, 2009 John Makinson for the Pearson board—
has anything to do with Penguin’s agencyeagnent with AppleTo the contrary, the

document concerned Penguin’s participatin the lawful U.K. and U.S. eBook
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publisher marketing joint veures—“aNobii,” also referred to as “Project Z”

(www.anobii.con), a U.K. joint venture,rad “Project Muse” or “Bookish”

(www.bookish.cony a U.S. joint venture. These joint ventures were and are

legitimate competitor-collaborations among Penguin and other publishers — including
Random House and Harper Collins with ssto aNobii, and Hachette and Simon &
Schuster with respect to Bookish—and weoaceived as a way for publishers to
replicate online the “book findg” function that brick and nrtar stores historically
performed. The legality and proprietytbese joint ventures, which Penguin was
recruited to joirbeforeit made the decision to entetoran agency model with Apple,
is not and has never beenusdty challenged (as neither forms part of the Counts in
this Complaint or is mentioned in thegueested relief). Conspicuously omitted from
the Complaint’s selective quotation from steategic plan is a sentence which makes
it absolutely cleathat the communications concednieenguin’s participation in the
Project Z and Bookish joint ventures:

Competition for the attention of readers will be most intense from

digital companies whose objeativmay be to disintermediate

traditional publishers altogether. This is not a new threat but we do

appear to be on a collision course with Amazon, and possibly

Google as well. It will not be podde for any indivilual publisher to

mount an effective response, because of both the resources necessary

and the risk of retribution, sthe industry needs to develop a

common strategyThis is the context for the development of the

Project Z initiatives in London and New York. We shall be

prepared to discuss these, ang ltlondon project in particular, when
we meet next month but therelMae significant costs and risks.

(Emphasis supplied.)
This document further beattse date of August 4, 2009, long before anyone outside
of Apple ever heard of th@ad or iBookstore and henlmng before any discussion
with or concerning Apple or related teetgency model. Simply put, the three
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sentences that the Complaint lifts fronmstdocument have nothing to do with Apple,
the agency model, or pricing for that matter.

e Penguin denies that it was part of anyesgnent to raise retail prices for eBooks. As
stated above, Penguin did not want tibsBooks in the iBookstore unless the
iBookstore was going to stock and distribtlte type and variety of eBooks necessary
to make it an attractive place for consumers to shop, which necessarily meant the
participation of other publishers. Pengaought assurances from Apple that Apple
could deliver the breadth of participati Penguin felt was necessary for a successful
eBook store.

e Penguin denies that its move to the agemoglel was an abrupt shift from past
behavior. eBooks were in their relaiinfancy and Penguin had not made any
decision that the business model for pbabks necessarily would be appropriate for
eBooks. As the Government has alleged in its Complaint, there are differences
between print book and eBooks, such as shigpposts, manufacturing costs, returns,
risk of loss, etc. For a product so matiyidifferent, it would be surprising if
Penguin had blindly followed its print bookodel. Penguin denies the remaining
allegations in the last butlpoint of paragraph 38.

E. The Publisher DefendanteBognize a Common Threat

ALLEGATION 39. Starting no later than September2808 and continuing for at least
one year, the Publisher Defendants’ CEQ4if@es joined by one non-defendant publisher’s
CEO) met privately as a group approximatelgeper quarter. These meetings took place in

private dining rooms of ups@Manhattan restaurants and wesed to discuss confidential
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business and competitive matters, including Aomée e-book retailing practices. No legal
counsel was present at any of these meetings.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengugenerally denies thelagations contained in
paragraph 39 other than admitting tRanhguin Group CEO John Mason, but not Penguin
Group (USA) CEO David Shanks, attended a nurmobspcial gatherings at which some, but not
all, of the other Publisher Defendant CEOs waesent, as well as Random House’s CEO.
While, in addition to purely social mattersngeal book industry issues and trends were
discussed at high-levels ofrggrality, Makinson did so pursuaio antitrust legal advice and
avoided competitively sensitive topics like terafgrade, prices, or confidential competitive
matters. Certain potential joint venture propssetre also discussed. Penguin specifically
denies that the purpose of anglkgathering was to coordinate fix prices or that any
agreements to fix prices wereached at any such gathering.

ALLEGATION 40. In September 2008, Penguin Group CEO John Makinson was
joined by Macmillan CEO John Sargent and the CEOs of the other four large publishers at a
dinner meeting in “The Chefs Wine Cellar,” ayate room at Picholene. One of the CEOs
reported that business matters were discussed.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admntihst Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
attended a social dinner with colleaguethi® publishing industry on September 15, 2008, 15
months before anyone in publisbiever heard of the iPad or iBookstore, to welcome the new
CEO of Random House, Markus Dohle, who ofise attended. Penguin is without information
or knowledge about what other CEOs reported attmutiinner and theraefe otherwise denies

the allegations in paragraph 40.
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ALLEGATION 41. In January 2009, the CEO of one Publisher Defendant, a United
States subsidiary of a European corporatiooimmsed his corporate superior, the CEO of the
parent company, that he would raise the futifre-books and Amazon'’s potential role in that
future at an upcoming meetiod publisher CEOs. Later thatonth, at a dinner meeting hosted
by Penguin Group CEO John Makinson, again in “Thefs Wine Cellar” at Picholene, the
same group of publisher CEOs met once more.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adntisit Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
hosted a social dinner at Picholine on Jan2&y2009, attended by the CEO of Random House,
as well as the CEOs of Hachette, Harper Collins, and Simon & Schuster. Penguin does not
believe MacMillan’s CEO attended and therefdemies the allegation that the same group of
CEOs attended. While, in addition to pursbcial matters, general book industry issues and
trends were discussed at highdés of generality, Makinson dgb pursuant to antitrust legal
advice and avoided competitively sensitive topilas terms of trade, prices, or confidential
competitive matters. Certain potential joinhtigre proposals were also discussed. Penguin
specifically denies that the purpasieany such gathering was to cdorate or fix prices or that
any agreements to fix prices were reachazhgtsuch gathering. Pengus without knowledge
or information about the allegations in the first sentence of paragfiaphd therefore denies
them.

ALLEGATION 42. On or about June 16, 2009, Mr. Magon again met privately with
other Publisher Defendant CEOs and discudsést, alia, the growth of e-books and Amazon’s
role in that growth.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin adnthist Penguin Group CEO John Makinson on

June 16, 2009 attended a social dinner at Riehalong with the CE@f Random House, as
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well as the CEOs of Hachette, Harper Calliand Simon & Schuste-but not the CEO of
Macmillan. While, in addition to purely social tters, general book industry issues and trends
were discussed at high-levels of generality, including the growth of eBooks and Amazon'’s role
therein, Makinson did so pursuant to antitlegial advice and avoided competitively sensitive
topics like terms of trade, prices, or confilahcompetitive matters. Certain potential joint
venture proposals were also dissed. Penguin specifically dentbat the purpose of any such
gathering was to coordinate or fixices or that any agreementditoprices were reached at any
such gathering.

ALLEGATION 43. On or about September 10, 2009, Mr. Makinson once again met
privately with other Publisher Defendant CEOs and the CEO of one non-defendant publisher in a
private room of a different Manhattan restauratto. They discussed ¢hgrowth of e-books and
complained about Amazon’s role in that growth.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adntisit Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
attended a social dinner at Alto on Septenilis 2009, attended by the CEO of Random House,
as well as the CEOs of Hachette, Harpedi@aland Simon & Schuster—but not the CEO of
Macmillan. While, in addition to purely social ttexrs, general book industry issues and trends
were discussed at high-levels of generality, including the growth of eBooks and Amazon'’s role
therein, Makinson did so pursuant to antitlegial advice and avoided competitively sensitive
topics like terms of trade, prices, or confiieahcompetitive matters. Certain potential joint
venture proposals were alsadissed, including potial participation in a mobile telephone
joint venture. Penguin specifically denieattthe purpose of any such gathering was to

coordinate or fix prices or that any agreement#xtprices were reacheat any such gathering.
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Penguin is without knowledge orformation about the allegatioms the first sentence of
paragraph 41 and theceé denies them.

ALLEGATION 44. In addition to the CEO dinner meetings, Publisher Defendants’
CEOs and other executives met in-person, one-on-one to communicate about e-books multiple
times over the course of 2009 and into 2010. Smmileetings took place Europe, including
meetings in the fall of 2009 between execugivé Macmillan parent company Verlagsgruppe
Georg von Holtzbrinck GmbH and executives wbtner Publisher Defendant’s parent company.
Macmillan CEO John Sargent joined at leas¢ of these parent company meetings.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies that John Makinson or David Shanks met in
person, one-on-one with Publisher DefendanDE€Er other executives to communicate about
eBooks in order to fix prices or otherwise dnish competition and therefore generally denies
the allegations in paragraph 44. Penguin adinésit was recruited ahultimately joined two

legitimate joint ventures—"aNobiidr “Project Z” in the U.K. www.anobii.com and “Bookish”

or “Project Muse” in the U.S. (bookish.com)that would market andotentially sell eBooks,
and met and communicated with the joint veatyublisher participants about the same.
Penguin is without knowledgegarding other publishers’ meegtjs with other people and
therefore denies those allegations.

ALLEGATION 45. These private meetings provided the Publisher Defendants’ CEOs
the opportunity to discuss how they cotigely could solve “the $9.99 problem.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguilenies that any of itsxecutives’ meeting with
other publishers constituted an attempt to fix prices tla@anly collective discussion about

creating competition with respect to Amazaradlved the creation of two legitimate joint
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ventures—“aNobii” or “Project Z” in the U.Kwiww.anobii.com and “Bookish” or “Project

Muse” in the U.S. (bookish.com).

F. Publisher Defendants Conspire To Raise Retail E-book
Prices Under the Guise dbint Venture Discussions

ALLEGATION 46. While each Publisher Defendantognized that it could not solve
“the $9.99 problem” by itself, collectively the Rishher Defendants accountéat nearly half of
Amazon’s e-book revenues, and by refusing to ecmwith one another for Amazon’s business,
the Publisher Defendants could force Amazoadcept the Publisher Defendants’ new contract
terms and to change its pricing practices.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienies the allegations of paragraph 46 as they
relate to Penguin and lacks sufficient infotioa or knowledge regarding the state of mind of
other publishers and therefore derties allegations in paragraph 46.

ALLEGATION 47. The Publisher Defendants thusiepired to act collectively,
initially in the guise of joint ventures. These osible joint ventures were not meant to enhance
competition by bringing to market products ornvéees that the publishers could not offer
unilaterally, but rather were designed ascampetitive measures to raise prices.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguilenies that the eBook publier joint ventures in

which it is a participant—"aNobiidr “Project Z” in the U.K. Wwww.anobii.con) and “Bookish”

or “Project Muse” in the U.S. (bookish.com)—eanything other than legitimate joint ventures
intended to enhance competition by providing inniweamarketing combined with social media
and an additional route to market for eBookast fhenguin could not otherwise offer effectively
on its own. The publisher participants in th¢aint ventures—includig Random House in the
U.K., who is not alleged to be a “conspirimggiblisher— have collectely invested several

million dollars in them. Both aNobii and Bookibave independent CEOs, Boards of Directors,
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legal counsel, staffs and operating budgetsleéd, the controlling shareholder of aNobii is
HMV, the U.K.’s leading entertainment brand—ealsot alleged to be‘@o-conspirator” by the
government.

ALLEGATION 48. All five Publisher Defendants aggd in 2009 at the latest to act
collectively to raise il prices for the most popularbooks above $9.99. One CEO of a
Publisher Defendant’s parent company expliteehis corporate suger in a July 29,2009 e-
mail message that “[ijn the USA and the UK, bioaih Spain and France to a lesser degree, the
‘top publishers’ are in discussiotscreate an alternative giatm to Amazon for e-books. The
goal is less to compete with Amazon as to farte accept a price levéigher than 9.99 ....  am
in NY this week to promote these ideas and the movement is positive with [the other four
Publisher Defendants].” (Translated from French).

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguinrdes that it agreed witbther publishers to act
collectively with othepublishers to raise ¢hretail prices for thenost popular eBooks above
$9.99. Penguin is without knowledge as to the ieimg allegations contained in paragraph 48
and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 49. Less than a week later, in Aagust 4, 2009 strategy memo for the
board of directors of Penguin’s ultimater@at company, Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
conveyed the same message:

Competition for the attention of readers will be most intense from
digital companies whose objeativmay be to disintermediate
traditional publishers altogether. This is not a new threat but we do
appear to be on a collision course with Amazon, and possibly
Google as well. It will not be podde for any indivilual publisher to
mount an effective response, because of both the resources necessary
and the risk of retribution, sthe industry needs to develop a

common strategy. This is the context for the development of the
Project Z initiatives [joint vetures] in London and New York.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adnthst Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
drafted a document entitled “Penguin Thyear Plan 2009” to his board on August 4, 2009
relating the quoted language above. Howetherlanguage above, on its face, is clearly
discussing the legitimate U.K and U.S. eBook jeentures in which Penguin is a participant—

“aNobii” (www.anobii.com)( initially called “Project Z”) ad “Bookish” (bookish.com). This

document further bears the date of Augl2009, long before any discussion with or
concerning Apple or related to the agency mo&ehply put, the three sentences lifted from this
document have nothing to do with Applkee agency model, or pricing.

G. Defendants Agree To Increaged Stabilize Retail E-book
Prices by Collectively Adopting an Agency Model

ALLEGATION 50. To raise e-book prices, the Risher Defendants also began to
consider in late 2009 selling e-books under arefag model” that would take away Amazon’s
ability to set low retail prices. As one CEOaPublisher Defendant’s parent company explained
in a December 6, 2009 e-mail message, “[o]ur goi ferce Amazon to return to acceptable
sales prices through the establishment of egenntracts in the USA .... To succeed our
colleagues must know that we entered the &gy follow us.” (Translated from French).

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienerally denies thelagjations contained in
paragraph 50. Penguin began to consideagfemcy model seriously when, and only when,
Apple proposed it to Penguin asnethod of doing business for Apple’s proposed iBookstore.
Indeed, on January 4, 2010 — i.e., several wees ‘dite 2009” — Penguin sent to Apple a draft
wholesale/retail agreement for the sale of Pang@iooks in the iBookstore. Penguin is without
knowledge as to the explanatiasfsother publisher CEOs and theved denies those allegations.

ALLEGATION 51. Apple’s entry into the e-bodbusiness provided a perfect

opportunity for collectiveaction to implement the agency model and use it to raise retail e-book
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prices. Apple was in the process of develo@rggrategy to sell e-books its new iPad device.
Apple initially contemplatedelling e-books through the exiggi wholesale model, which was
similar to the manner in which Apple sold the vasijority of the digital media it offered in its
iTunes store. On February 19, 2009, Apple \Reesident of Interne$ervices Eddy Cue
explained to Apple CEO Steve Jobs in an e-mallt ‘this point, it would b&ery easy for us to
compete and | think trounce Amazon by openipgur own ebook store.” In addition to
considering competitive entry at that time, thougbple also contemplated illegally dividing the
digital content world with Amazon, allowingeh to “own the category” of its choice—
audio/video to Apple and e-books to Amazon.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengugenerally denies thelagations contained in
paragraph 51. Penguin admits that Apple apgihed Penguin in December 2009 to present the
idea of opening an iBookstore $ell eBooks on its new iPadwee, and Penguin was eager to
do business with Apple to secure broader dhgtron for its eBooks and have the opportunity to
create enhanced eBooks, which the iPad promised to be able to accommodate (and which
Amazon’s Kindle could not). Penguin is watlt knowledge as to Apple’s statements or
contemplations and therefadenies those allegations.

ALLEGATION 52. Apple soon concluded, though, that competition from other
retailers — especially Amazorweuld prevent Apple from earning its desired 30 percent margins
on e-book sales. Ultimately, Apple, together with Publisher Defendants, set in motion a plan
that would compel all non-Apple-book retailers alstm sign onto agency or else, as Apple’s

CEO put it, the Publisher Defendants all wos#y, “we’re not going to give you the books.”
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengumwithout knowledge a® the allegations about
conclusions drawn by Apple cahed in paragraph 52 and therefore denies them. Penguin
denies the remaining allegatiocsntained in paragraph 52.

ALLEGATION 53. The executive in charge of Apple’s inchoate e-books business,
Eddy Cue, telephoned each Publisher Defahdad Random House on or around December 8,
2009 to schedule exploratory meetings in New York City on December 15 and December 16.
Hachette and HarperCollins took the lead inmkirmy with Apple to capitalize on this golden
opportunity for the Publisher Defendants to achidnegr goal of raisingnd stabilizing retail e-
book prices above $9.99 by collectively impasthe agency model on the industry.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thavas initially contacted in early
December by Apple and met with Apple on Daber 15, 2009 to discuss the possibility of an
iBookstore, and that this meeg was the first thaenguin learned of Apple’s plans for an
eReader application on its iPdédvice, but denies the remaining allegations contained in
paragraph 53 as they pertain to Pengianguin is without infamation regarding the
allegations in paragraph 53 regarding ottgblishers and thefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 54. It appears that Hachette and HarperCollins communicated with
each other about moving to an agency mddeing the brief window between Mr. Cue’s first
telephone calls to the Blisher Defendants and his visitiweet with their CEOs. On the
morning of December 10, 2009, a HarperCollins etieewadded to his calendar an appointment
to call a Hachette executive at 10:50 AM. At1LAM, the Hachette executive returned the
phone call, and the two spoke for six minuteser;Hess than a week later in New York, both

Hachette and HarperCollins executives told Mr. @utheir initial meetingsvith him that they
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wanted to sell e-books under an agency model, a dramatic departure from the way books had
been sold for over a century.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengumwithout knowledge a® the allegations about
Hachette and HarperCollins containegaragraph 54 and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 55. The other Publisher Defendants atsade clear to Apple that they
“certainly” did not want to continue “the isting way that they were doing businessg”, with
Amazon promoting their most populabeeks for $9.99 under a wholesale model.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thatdiscussed Amazon’s pricing of
eBooks with Apple during the initial mieg between Penguin and Apple on December 15,
2009, insofar as it was an industry fact that Ap@eded to be aware of in deciding whether to
open an iBookstore, but Penguienies the remaining allegations contained in paragraph 55.

ALLEGATION 56. Apple saw a way to turn the agersssheme into a highly profitable
model for itself. Apple determined to giveetRublisher Defendants what they wanted while
shielding itself from retail pce competition and realizing margins far in excess of what e-book
retailers then averaged on each newly releasedsiselling e-book sold.pple realized that, as
a result of the scheme, “the customer” would “pay[] a little more.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguis without knowledgabout the allegations
regarding Apple contained in paragh 56 and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 57. On December 16, 2009, the dajeatboth companies’ initial
meetings with Apple, Penguin Group CEO Jdmeikinson had a breakfast meeting at a London
hotel with the CEO of another Publisher Defamtt&aparent companyonsistent with the

Publisher Defendants’ other efforts to conceal their activities, Mr. Makinson’s breakfast
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companion wrote to his U.S. subordinate thawvbeld recount portionsf his discussion with
Mr. Makinson only by telephone.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adntisit Penguin Group CEO John Makinson
attended a previously scheduled breakfasttmg with Hachette’s CEO, Arnaud Nourry, on
December 16, 2009 the purpose of which wasgousis participation in a publisher eBook joint
venture. Penguin is without knowledge as ®ahegations regardimynaud Nourry contained
in paragraph 57 and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 58. By the time Apple arrived for a second round of meetings during
the week of December 21, 2009, the agency modkbbkaome the focus of its discussions with
all of the Publisher Defendants. In thesscussions, Apple proposéuhat the Publisher
Defendants requirall retailers of their e-books to acceipé agency model. Apple thereby
sought to ensure that it would not have to cetamn retail prices. Theqosal appealed to the
Publisher Defendants because wresting pricorgrol from Amazon and other e-book retailers
would advance their collusiveant to raise retail e-book prices.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguilenies the allegation®itained in paragraph 58
insofar as they relate to PenguiPenguin did not have furthesdussions with Apple regarding
the business model under which the two mpitentially operate uih Penguin proposed a
wholesale/retail distribution agreement with Apple on January 4, 2010. The next day, January 5,
2010, Apple unilaterally announcedethgency model to Penguinasake-it-or-leave-it deal
term. Penguin is without knowledge as te #ilegations regandg any other publisher
contained in paragraph 58dtherefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 59. The Publisher Defendants acknowledged to Apple their common

objective to end Amazon’s $9.99 pricing. As Mr.edeported in an e-mail message to Apple’s
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CEO Steve Jobs, the three publishers with wherhad met saw the “plus” of Apple’s position
as “solv[ing the] Amazon problem.” The “negatiwvas that Apple’s proposed retail prices —
topping out at $12.99 for newly releaksand bestselling e-books —ree “little less than [the
publishers] would like.” Likewise, Mr. Jobs latefanmed an executive of one of the Publisher
Defendant’s corporate parentstli[a]ll major publishers” hatbld Apple that “Amazon’s $9.99
price for new releases is eroditige value perception adlfieir products in customer’s minds, and
they do not want this practice tontinue for new releases.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienies that it acknowledged to Apple that the
publishers had a common objective to end Amazon’s $9.99 pricing and is otherwise without
knowledge as to the allegationgaeding Apple other than thBenguin did not participate in a
“second round of meetings” withpple in December, and was rtbe Publisher to which Mr.
Jobs communicated, and therefore deniesatlegations contained in paragraph 59.

ALLEGATION 60. As perhaps the only company tlcauld facilitate their goal of
raising retail e- book prices across the industpple knew that it hagignificant leverage in
negotiations with Publisher Defendants. Apple eised this leverage to demand a thirty percent
commission—a margin significantly abothee prevailing competitive margins for e-book
retailers. The Publisher Defemda worried that the combitian of paying Apple a higher
commission than they would have liked and mgciheir e-books lower than they wanted might
be too much to bear in exchange for Applasilitation of thei agreement to raise retail e-book
prices. Ultimately, though, they convinced Aptieallow them to raise prices high enough to
make the deal palatable to them.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that Apple—with access to hundreds of

millions of potential eBook buyers through iTunesl gahe drawing power dfs hotly anticipated
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iPad—had significant leverageits negotiations with Penguin. Thus, and among other terms,
Apple negotiated a 30% comssion, which Penguin understands to be the same commission
Apple received under its agency agreements reiglard to the sale of Apps for the iPhone.
Penguin denies that there were any extaotrjgetitive” margins prior to Apple opening an
iBookstore. Penguin admits that it negotiatesitess terms with Apple that Penguin estimated
would be profitable for Penguin based upon tguanption that the entry of Apple and the
institution of the agency model would expandristtion and increase Rguin’s overall sales of
eBooks significantly, as demonstrated bydgn’s internal business planning documents.
Penguin denies the remaining allegations conthing@aragraph 60 with respect to Penguin, and
is without knowledge as to tlatlegations regarding any othaublisher contained in paragraph
60 and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 61. As it negotiated witlthe Publisher Defendants in December 2009
and January 2010, Apple kept each Publisher Defemdf@nined of the status of its negotiations
with the other Publisher Defendants. Applsocahssured the Publishiefendants that its
proposals were the same to each and that ncApgdt agreed to with one publisher would be
materially different from any deal it agreedvwidh another publistreApple thus knowingly
served as a critical conspiracy participant bgveihg the Publisher Defendants to signal to one
another both (a) which agency terms would cosgpan acceptable means of achieving their
ultimate goal of raising and stabilizing retail e-book prices, and (b) that they could lock
themselves into this particular means of edtively achieving thagoal by all signing their
Apple Agency Agreement.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienerally denies thelagjations contained in

paragraph 61 but admits that Apple made itrded@enguin that Apple, for its own reasons, did
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not want to have materially different agreemsenith its book publisher partners. Penguin
further denies that Apple informed Penguin ofsteus of its negotiations with other publishers,
other than telling Penguin at times that it hadeadrto terms with some number of unidentified
other publishers. Penguin is wotlit knowledge as to the allegats regarding any other entity
contained in paragraph @hd therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 62. Apple’s Mr. Cue e-mailed each Publisher Defendant between
January 4, 2010, and January 6, 2010 an outline af mdtabbed [sic] “the best approach for e-
books.” He reassured Penguin AJSEO David Shanks and othBublisher Defendant CEOs
that Apple adopted the approdga]fter talking to all theother publishers.” Mr. Cue sent
substantively identical e-mail messaged proposals to each Publisher Defendant.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitattApple’s Eddy Cue emailed Penguin on
January 5, 2010 outlining the terms it was willingise to open an iBookstore and that email
includes the statement: “Aftéalking to all the other plishers and seeing the overall book
environment, here is what | think is the bagproach for ebooks.” Penguin denies that the
Apple statement was a “reassurance” to Davidn®k and denies knowledge of whether it was a
“reassurance” to any other publisher.

ALLEGATION 63. The outlined proposal that Applercillated after consulting with
each Publisher Defendant contained several key features. First, as Hachette and HarperCollins
had initially suggested to Appléhe publisher would be theipcipal and Apple would be the
agent for e- book sales. Consumer pricing aitharould be transferred from retailers to
publishers. Second, Apple’s proposal mandated that every other retailer of each publisher’s e-
books — Apple’s direct competitors — be for¢edccept the agency model as well. As Mr. Cue

wrote, “all resellers of new titles need toibeagency model.” Third, Apple would receive a 30
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percent commission for each e-book sale. Andtipwach Publisher Defendant would have
identical pricing tiers for e-booksold through Apple’s iBookstore.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitattieddy Cue’s email to Penguin dated
January 5, 2010 outlined what Eddy Cue believed was “the best approach for ebooks.” Penguin
is without knowledge of whaif, anything, Hachette and HarperCollins initially suggested to
Apple and therefore denies those allegatiamsl Penguin specificallyenies that Penguin
suggested the agency model to Apple, asfiu@h had done the opposite by transmitting a draft
wholesale/retail contract #spple on January 4, 2010—the day before. Penguin admits that
Eddy Cue’s email on January 5, 2010 informed Penguin that it would only go forward using the
agency model (“Just like the App Store, are proposing a principalgency model with you,
where you would be the principal and iTunesnd sell your product as your agent for your
account. In exchange for acting as your agénnes would get 80% commission for each
transaction”), and that it wadllinsist upon pricing tiers in ordé keep eBook prices low (“On
pricing, you would be free to determine whettwedistribute any partidar publication through
iTunes (of course if another eBook distributorsvadle to sell a book then we would as well);
and you would be free to establish the pricd #Book would be sold. So that we could
efficiently manage our agency role, we propascorresponding range pfices for books at
various stages in a book’s pulaltmn and distribution evolution.”). Eddy Cue also wrote:
“There are several things we have to accomplisirder to sell eBooks at realistic prices: books
need to be cheaper to buy than physical; yaulshmake less per book since significant costs
have been eliminated but still have a healthgfifable sale; all resellers of new titles need to be
in agency model.” Penguin specifically denies that Eddy Cue’s JaBua®0 suggested that

Penguin would have identical pricing tiers asastpublishers. Penguin is without knowledge as
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to the allegations contained in paragraph @@uréing any other publisher and therefore denies
them.

ALLEGATION 64. On January 11, 2010, Apple e-mailed its proposed e-book
distribution agreement to all the Publisher DefartslaAs with the outlined proposals Apple sent
earlier in January, the proposeth@sk distribution agreements were substantially the same. Also
on January 11, 2010, Apple separately e-mailed to Penguin and two other Publisher Defendants
charts showing how the Publisher Defendap¢stselling e-books would be priced at $12.99 —
the ostensible maximum price werd\pple’s then-current prideer proposal — in the iBookstore.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that Apgént its initial draft of an agency
distribution agreement for eBooks to Pemgon January 11, 2010, Penguin is without
knowledge as to any proposals sent by Applether publishers andehefore denies those
allegations. Penguin admits that Apple also Samtguin a chart explamy its price tiers that
Apple had proposed in its initidraft agency contract. Penguwanies the remaining allegations
contained in paragraph 64. Penguin is without knowledge as to the allegations contained in
paragraph 64 regarding any otheblisher and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 65. The proposed e-book distributionragment mainly incorporated
the principles Apple set out in its e-mail $sages of January 4 through January 6, with two
notable changes. First, Apple demanded tth@tfublisher Defendants provide Apple their
complete e-book catalogs and that they notyditla electronic release of any title behind its
print release. Second, and more important, Appplaced the expressquirement that each
publisher adopt the agency model with eachsofétailers with an unusual most favored nation
(“MFN") pricing provision. That provision was netructured like a standaMFN in favor of a

retailer, ensuring Apple that it would receive besst available wholesale price. Nor did the MFN
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ensure Apple that the Publisii2efendants would not set a highetail price on the iBookstore
than they set on other websites where theyrotiatl retail prices. Instead, the MFN here
required each publisher to guarantest it would lower the retagrice of each e-book in Apple’s
iBookstore to match the lowest price offetydany other retailer, even if the Publisher
Defendant did not control that other retailersméte consumer price. That is, instead of an
MFN designed to protect Apple’s ability to coetp, this MFN was designed to protect Apple
from having to compete on price at all, vehdtill maintaining Apple’s 30 percent margin.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tApple’s initial drat agency contract
circulated to Penguin included athmight be characterized ‘asost favored nation” provision
regarding eBook content, and what the governmbkatacterizes as a “most favored nation”
provision regarding retail priceContrary to the allegations paragraph 65, the provision with
regard to pricing ensured that the pricesage®enguin for Penguin titles sold in the iBookstore
would be competitive with any price for the samike titffered anywhere else. This provision did
not diminish Apple’s incentives to competethe contrary, it allowed Apple to match the lowest
eBook prices in the marketplace and thus suemthat the iBookstore could be the most
attractive location tbuy eBooks. Penguin denies the rermy allegations contained in
paragraph 65.

ALLEGATION 66. The purpose of these provisions was to work in concert to enforce
the Defendants’ agreement to raise and stahibtail e-book prices.pgple and the Publisher
Defendants recognized that coupling Apple’s righdltaf their e-books wh its right to demand
that those e-books not be priced higher onBloekstore than on any other website effectively
required that each Publisher Defendant takayasetail pricing control from all other e-book

retailers, including strigpg them of any ability to discountr otherwise price promote e-books
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out of the retailer's own margins. Otherejshe retail price MFN would cause Apple’s
iBookstore prices to drop to match the lestilable retail price of each e-book, and the
Publisher Defendants would receive only 7C0cpat of those reduced retail prices. Price
competition by other retailers,allowed to continue, thus likely would reduce e-book revenues
to levels the Publisher Defendamould not control or predict.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 67. In negotiating the retail pridédFN with Apple, “some of [the
Publisher Defendants]” asserted that Applerditineed the provision “because they would be
moving to an agency model with [the othdpoe@ok retailers,]” regardts. Ultimately, though, all
Defendants agreed to include the MFN commitment mechanism.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thatagency contract with Apple contains
several clauses that might be characterizédhast favored nation” prasions. Penguin also
notes that its agency contract with Amazatdso contains several clauses that might be
characterized as “most favorediona” provisions. Both setsf commitments by Penguin were
intended to keep Penguin’s agents’ offerings cetitipe with each other. Penguin denies the
remaining allegations contained in pargdr®7 with respect to Penguin, and is without
knowledge as to the allegatioregarding any other entigontained in paragraph 67, and
therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 68. On January 16, 2010, Apple, via Mue, offered revised terms to
the Publisher Defendants thaagwere identical in subste®. Apple modified its earlier
proposal in two significant waykirst, in response to publisherguests, it added new maximum
pricing tiers that increadepermissible e-book prices to $16.99 or $19.99, depending on the

book’s hardcover list price. Second, Apple’'svaroposal mitigated these price increases
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somewhat by adding special pricing §iéor e-book versions of books on thew York Times
fiction and non-fiction bestselldists. For e-book versions of &tsellers bearing list prices of
$30 or less, Publisher Defendants could set a ppde $12.99; for bestselis bearing list prices
between $30 and $35, the e-book price cap would be $14.98njumction with the revised
proposal, Mr. Cue set up meetings for the next wedkalize agreements with the Publisher
Defendants.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tApple’s Eddie Cue sent an electronic
mail message with revised, proposed deahs to Penguin on or around January 16, 2010,
which among other items, includedce ceilings that were diffent from the price tiers Apple
had first proposed and a requirement that theepréling applied to titles listed on the New York
Times Best Seller list be lowered. Pengsintherwise without knowledge of Apple’s
negotiations with otheryblishers and therefore denies those allegations. Penguin further admits
that Apple arranged to mewith Penguin on or around January 20, 2010 to discuss Apple
opening an online bookstore and Penguin’s pospintgcipation. Penguiis without knowledge
as to the allegations contained in paragrapte§arding any other entignd therefore denies
them.

ALLEGATION 69. Each Publisher Defendant requir@skurances that it would not be
the only publisher to sign an agreement with Agplat would compel it either to take pricing
authority from Amazon or to pull its e-book®eifin Amazon. The Publisher Defendants continued
to fear that Amazon would act pootect its ability to price e-books $9.99 or less if any one of
them acted alone. Individual Publisher Defendatde feared punishment in the marketplace if
only its e-books suddenly became more expensivetait while other publishers continued to

allow retailers to compete on price. As Mr. Gued, “all of them were very concerned about
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being the only ones to sign a deal with us.figren explicitly commurgated to Apple that it
would sign an e-book distribution agreement wiiple only if at least three of the other
“major[]” publishers did as well. pple supplied the needed assurances.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thaought an assurance from Apple,
prior to entering a busass relationship with Apple to selBooks, that a number of publishers
would be selling their eBooks in the iBooksttecause Penguin wanted to sell its eBooks on a
platform that would attract the greatest numiifecustomers—which would necessarily require
the participation of other eBook plighers in providing titles to the bookstore. Also, because a
switch to agency selling involved costs ane business disruption (e.g., occasioned by
systems changes), Penguin wanted to be asswaefhle was committed to a full-scale, viable
iBookstore, which meant a store selling a largeety of eBook titles being published. In
addition to ensuring the viability of the iBod&se, Penguin was also worried about preserving
its existing distribution—which could have been harmed, for example, if Amazon punitively
refused to sell Penguin titles on its websiteetaliation for Penguin entering a business
relationship with a new competitor. Penguimigs the remaining allegations contained in
paragraph 69 with respect to Penguin, and ieaut knowledge as to ¢hallegations contained
in paragraph 69 regarding any otleatity, and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 70. While the Publisher Defendants were discussing e-book
distribution terms with Appléuring the week of January 18, 2010, Amazon met in New York
City with a number of proment authors and agents to unveil a new program under which
copyright holders could take their e-books dilyeto Amazon — cutting out the publisher — and
Amazon would pay royalties of up 70 percent, far in excesswhat publishers offered. This

announcement further highlighted the direct cetitive threat Amazon @g&d to the Publisher
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Defendants’ business model. The Publishdiebaants reacted immediately. For example,
Penguin USA CEO David Shanks refgal being “really angry” after “hav[ing] read [Amazon’s]
announcement.” After thinking about it for a d&lr, Shanks concluded, “[o]n Apple | am now
more convinced that we need a viable alteveao Amazon or this nonsense will continue and
get much worse.” Another decisionmaker estighe was “p****d” at Amazon for starting to
compete directly against the publishensl @xpressed his desire “to screw Amazon.”

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that it became publicly known on or around
January 18, 2010 that Amazon was attempting to neégateals with literaryagents directly, and
that Penguin Group (USA) CEO David Shankd athers were disappded to learn that
Penguin’s business partner was attempting to disrupt Penguin’s busia¢issiships with
literary agents. Penguin deniesg ttlemaining allegations contadth@e paragraph 70 with respect
to Penguin, and is without knowledge as to thegaltions contained iparagraph 70 regarding
any other publisher and tlefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 71. To persuade one of the Publisiiefendants to stay with the
others and sign an agreement, Apple CEO Sietss wrote to an executive of the Publisher
Defendant’s corporate parehit the publisher had only tvahoices apart from signing the
Apple Agency Agreement: (i) accept the status (fKeep going with Amazon at $9.99"); or (ii)
continue with a losing policy of delaying the release of electronic versions of new titles (“Hold
back your books from Amazon”). Accordinglobs, the Apple deal offered the Publisher
Defendants a superior alternative path to thedrigbtail e-book prices they sought: “Throw in
with Apple and see if we can all make a go of thisreate a real mainstream e-books market at

$12.99 and $14.99.”
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguis without knowledgeas to the allegations
contained in paragraph 7hatherefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 72. In addition to passing information through Apple and during their
private dinners and other in-person meetings Rublisher Defendants frequently communicated
by telephone to exchange assurances of common action in attetoptimge the retail price of
e-books. These telephone commutiwes increased significantilyuring the two-month period
in which the Publisher Defendants considered and entered the Apple Agency Agreements.
During December 2009 and January 2010, the Publidéemdants’ U.S. CEOs placed at least
56 phone calls to one another. Each CEO, including Penguin’s Shanks and Macmillan’s Sargent,
placed at least seven such phone calls.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adntisit during December 2009 and January
2010, Penguin Group (USA) CEO David Shanks caomicated by telephone a handful of times
with the CEOs of Hachette and Simon & Sdkuswith whom he sees on the Board of
Directors of the publisher eBook joint venture “Bookish” (bookish.com) (also known as “Project
Muse”) as Penguin during that time period agreegarticipate as founding member of the
joint venture and the Bookish board was inphecess of searching for a CEO and engaged in
other formative matters. Penguin denies timeaiaing allegations coained in paragraph 72
related to Penguin and is otherwise without kiealge as to the allejans concerning other
publishers and therefodenies them.

ALLEGATION 73. The timing, frequency, duratioand content of the Publisher
Defendant CEOs’ phone calls demonstrate thaPth®isher Defendants used them to seek and
exchange assurances of common strategiedasiness plans regarding the Apple Agency

Agreements. For example, in addition to thepghtme calls already describa this complaint:
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. Near the time Apple first presented the agency model, one
Publisher Defendant’s CEO usadelephone call — ostensibly
made to discuss a marketingnoventure — to tell Penguin USA
CEO David Shanks that “everyorgein the same place with
Apple.”

. After receiving Apple’s Janug 16, 2010 revised proposal,
executives of several Publisher Defendants responded to the
revised proposal and meetingg again, seeking and exchanging
confidential information. For exgpte, on Sunday, January 17, one
Publisher Defendant’s CEO used his mobile phone to call another
Publisher Defendant’s CEO and talk for approximately ten
minutes. And on the morning of January 19, Penguin USA CEO
David Shanks had an extended telephone conversation with the
CEO of another Publisher Defendant.

. On January 21, 2010, the CEO of dhgblisher Defendant’s parent
company instructed his U.Sulsordinate via e-mail to find out
Apple’s progress in agency negotiations with other publishers.
Four minutes after that e-mail was sent, the U.S. executive called
another Publisher Defendant’'s CEO, and the two spoke for over
eleven minutes.

. On January 22, 2010, at 9:30 a.Apple’s Cue met with one
Publisher Defendant’s CEO to make what Cue hoped would be a
“final go/no-go decision” about whether the Publisher Defendant
would sign an agreement with AgplLess than an hour later, the
Publisher Defendant's CEO magkeone calls, two minutes apart,
to two other Publisher Defendants’ CEOs, including Macmillan’s
Sargent. The CEO who placecettballs admitted under oath to
placing them specifically to leaif the other two Publisher
Defendants would sign with Appj®ior to Apple’s iPad launch.

. On the evening of Saturday, January 23, 2010, Apple’s Cue e-
mailed his boss, Steve Jobs, and noted that Penguin USA CEO
David Shanks “want[ed] an assurance that he is 1of 4 before
signing.” The following Monday morning, at 9:46 a.m., Mr.
Shanks called another Publisher Defendant’'s CEO and the two
talked for approximately four mutes. Both Penguin and the other
Publisher Defendant signed their Apple Agency Agreements later
that day.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denieatthis executives engaged in any
conversations with other publishers that sodggsurances of common strategies and business
plans” regarding Apple. At the time Apple peesed the possibility ain iBookstore to Penguin,
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Penguin was in the midst of forming a U.S. lageént publisher venturto market eBooks with

Simon & Schuster and Hachette—“Projdtiise” or “Bookish” (bookish.com)—and was

necessarily in conversation wigixecutives at those publishertated to the joint venture.

Specifically, with regard tthe allegations in the bullpbints, Penguin admits that

On or around the time Apple firstggented its agency-model concept to
publishers, David Shanks recalls a joinbitee related telephone call with David
Young (a fellow Board Member of Bookish) in which Mr. Young made a casual
comment that everyone was in the same place with Apple.

On January 19, David Shanks had aveh-minute, Bookish-related telephone
call with Carolyn Reidy (a fellow Boanshember of Bookish). Penguin denies
that this telephone call was in faerance of a publisher conspiracy.

David Shanks sent Apple’s Eddie Cue an email on January 22, 2010 in which he
told Apple: You must have the founthajor or we can’t be in the announcement
[of the release of the iPad and the opgrof the iBookstore]Penguin denies that
this statement shows Penguin was part of a publisher conspiracy; otherwise it
would not have to have kesd Apple for confirmation.

Penguin call records show David Shahksl a four minute telephone call with
Carolyn Reidy the morning of Janudty, 2010. Penguin’s internal electronic
communications further show thaenguin subsequently decided teagree to

the agency terms as proposed by Apple, andaqiart of opening the

iBookstore. Only after negotiating nemd different deal terms—which Penguin
believes are unique to ihd its business model—did Penguin change course and

enter into an agency agreement with Apple.
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Penguin otherwise is without knowledge ashy publisher communications not involving
Penguin and therefore denies thosegall®ns contained in paragraph 73.

ALLEGATION 74. On January 24, 2010, Hachettgr¢d an e-book distribution
agreement with Apple. Over the nexbt@ays, Simon & Schuster, Macmillan, Penguin, and
HarperCollins all followed suit and signed e-babtribution agreements with Apple. Within
these three days, the Publisher Defendantseagwith Apple tabandon the longstanding
wholesale model for selling e-books. The AppleeAgy Agreements took effect simultaneously
on April 3, 2010 with the release of Apple’s new iPad.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits tRanhguin signed an agency agreement
with Apple on January 25, 2010. Penguin ishaiit knowledge regardirany other publisher’s
distribution agreement with Appland therefore denies thodegations. Penguin denies the
remaining allegations coamned in paragraph 75.

ALLEGATION 75. The final version of the priog tiers in the Apple Agency
Agreements contained the $12.99 and $14.99 pricegmnbestsellers, discussed earlier, and
also established prices for ather newly released titles basauthe hardcover ligrice of the
same title. Although couched as maximum retaidgsj the price tiers in fact established the
retail e-book prices to be atged by Publisher Defendants.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 76. By entering the Apple Agency Agreements, each Publisher
Defendant effectively agreed tequire all of their o0k retailers to acceftie agency model.
Both Apple and the Publisher Defendants understood the Agreements would compel the
Publisher Defendants to take pricing authofiigm all non-Apple e-book retailers. A February

10, 2010 presentation by one Publisher Defendanaagdpd this result (emphasis in original):
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“The Apple agency model deal means that we will hashiib to an agency model with
Amazon which [will] strengthe our control over pricing.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguienies the allegations in paragraph 76 as they
relate to Penguin and is withcknowledge as to the understandingépple or other publishers
or the content of the referenced Februbdy2010 presentation and therefore denies those
allegations.

ALLEGATION 77. Apple understood that the final Apple Agency Agreements ensured
that the Publisher Defendants would raise theéailre-book prices to thestensible limits set by
the Apple price tiers not only in Apple’srtbcoming iBookstore, but on Amazon.com and all
other consumer sites as well. When asked Wak Street Journateporter at the January 27,
2010 iPad unveiling event, “Why should she buy a book for... $14.99 from your device when she
could buy one for $9.99 from Amazon on the Kindle or from Barnes & Noble on the Nook?”
Apple CEO Steve Jobs responded, “that won'thgecase ... the pricesll be the same.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengumwithout knowledge a® Apple’s understanding
about its agency agreement with Penguinnyoae else and therefodenies the allegations
contained in paragraph 78.

ALLEGATION 78. Apple understood that the retail price MFN was the key
commitment mechanism to keep the Publidbefendants advancingeir conspiracy in
lockstep. Regarding the effectthie MFN, Apple executive Pete Alcorn remarked in the context
of the European roll-out of tregency model in the spring of 2010:

| told [Apple executive Keith Moerer] that | think he and Eddy [Cue]
made it at least halfway to changing the industry permanently, and
we should keep the pads on and keep fighting for it. | might regret
that later, but right now | feel l&kit's a giant win to keep pushing

the MFN and forcing people off éff/AJmazon model and onto ours.
If anything, the place to give is the pricing — long run, the mfn is
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more important. The interestingsight in the meeting was Eddy’s
explanation that it doesn’t have e that broad — any decent MFN
forces the model.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin vwgithout knowledge as to Apple’s
understanding about its agency agreement with Penguin or anyone else and

therefore denies the allegatiotentained in paragraph 78.

ALLEGATION 79. Within the four months following the signing of the Apple Agency
Agreements, and over Amazon’s objections, each Publisher Defendant had transformed its
business relationship with all of the major e-boetailers from a wholesale model to an agency
model and imposed flat prohibitions against efodiscounting or other price competition on all
non- Apple e-book retailers.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin adnthsit by May 26, 2010, it had negotiated
agency agreements with all of its principal distribution partners, including Amazon, and that with
the exception of Amazon, every pati@hagent welcomed the prospief moving to the agency
model during Penguin’s negotiations. Penguin adthé@sunder each of its agency agreements,
including its agency agreement with Apple, Pendnaia sole discretion totsine prices at which
it would offer tosell Penguin titles.

ALLEGATION 80. For example, after it signed its Apple Agency Agreement,
Macmillan presented Amazon a choice: adopt tlemeg model or lose the ability to sell e-book
versions of new hardcover titlésr the first seven months of their release. Amazon rejected
Macmillan’s ultimatum and sought to presengeability to sell e-book versions of newly
released hardcover titles for $9.99. To resist Man's efforts to force ito accept either the
agency model or delayed electronic availahiktgnazon effectively stopped selling Macmillan’s

print books and e-books.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that Amazon publicly retaliated against
Macmillan in January 2010 by removing the “buy” buttons from Macmillan book titles after
Macmillan purportedly proposed the agency model to Amazon. Penguin is without knowledge
regarding the other allegationentained in paragraph 8@dtherefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 81. When Amazon stopped selling Macmillan titles, other Publisher
Defendants did not view the siti@t as an opportunity to gamarket share from a weakened
competitor. Instead, they rallied to support Mdtam. For example, the CEO of one Publisher
Defendant’s parent company instructed thelRBher Defendant’s CEO that “[Macmillan CEQO]
John Sargent needs our help!” The parentmany CEO explained, “M[acml]illan have been
brave, but they are small. WWieed to move the lines. And | ahrilled to knowhow A[mazon]
will react against 3 or 4 of the big guys.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admitssexecutives were supportive of
Macmillan given that Amazon could just haa@sily retaliated against Penguin. Penguin
otherwise denies the allegatiangparagraph 81 as they relatecoenguin. Penguin is without
knowledge regarding the remaining allegationstamed in paragraph 81 and therefore denies
them.

ALLEGATION 82. The CEO of one Publisher Defemtfla parent company assured
Macmillan CEO John Sargent of his compamgtipport in a January 31, 2010 email: “l can
ensure you that you are not going to find your canypalone in the battle.” The same parent
company CEO also assured the head of Macmillzrgorate parent in a February 1 email that
“others will enter the battléeld!” Overall, Macmillan received “hugely supportive”
correspondence from the publishing industryimyMacmillan’s effort to force Amazon to

accept the agency model.
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PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits itshaghly publicized that many people
in the book industry expressed disagreement fuitlazon’s actions and believed those actions
were anticompetitive but is otherwise withoubkriedge regarding the allegations contained in
paragraph 82 and therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 83. As its battle with Amazon continued, Macmillan knew that,
because the other Publisher Defendantsthaapple Agency Agreements, had locked
themselves into forcing agency on Amazon to advance their conspiratorial goals, Amazon soon
would face similar edicts from a united fraftPublisher Defendants. And Amazon could not
delist the books of all five Publisher Defendargsduise they together accounted for nearly half
of Amazon’s e-book business. Macmillan CEO John Sargent explained the company’s reasoning:
“we believed whatever was happening, whatéraazon was doing here, they were going to
face — they’re going to have more of the samghe future one way or another.” Another
Publisher Defendant similarly recognized th&tcmillan was not acting unilaterally but rather
was “leading the charge on moviAgiazon to the agency model.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengumwithout knowledge igarding the allegations
contained in paragraph &8d therefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 84. Amazon quickly came to fully appreciate that not just Macmillan
but all five Publisher Defendants had irrevocably committed themselves to the agency model
across all retailers, includingkiag control of retail pricingand thereby stripping away any
opportunity for e-book retailers to compete ore@rJust two dayafter it stopped selling
Macmillan titles, Amazon capitulated and publialgnounced that it had no choice but to accept

the agency model, and it soon resumed selling Macmillan’s e-book and print book titles.

60



PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin adnthst Amazon publicly announced in
February 2010 that it was accepting Macmikkgproposal of an agency agreement and
reinstituted the “buy” buttons for Macmillan tifen its website. Penguin is without knowledge
regarding the remaining allegat® contained in paragraph 81d therefore denies them.

H. Defendants Further the Conspayby Pressuring Another
Publisher To Adopt the Agency Model

ALLEGATION 85. When a company takes a pro-competitive action by introducing a
new product, lowering its prices, or even adaptimew business model that helps it sell more
product at better prices, it typically does not wigsitompetitors to copy its action, but prefers to
maintain a first-mover or competitive advantalgecontrast, when companies jointly take
collusive action, such as institngj a coordinated price increaseg\thypically want the rest of
their competitors to join them that action. Because collusigetions are not pro-competitive or
consumer friendly, any competitor that doesgmalong with the conspirators can take more
consumer friendly actions and see its market shegeat the expense tife conspirators. Here,
the Defendants acted consistently with a colieisirangement, and inconsistently with a pro-
competitive arrangement, as they sought to pressure another publisher (whose market share was
growing at the Publisher Defendants’ expeafier the Apple Agency Contracts became
effective) to join them.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: The first two sentes of paragraph 85 are hypothetical
speculation or abstract economic propositiorssrant factual allegations and therefore no
response is required. Otherwise the allegaticontained in pagaaph 85 are denied.

ALLEGATION 86. Penguin appears to have taken tlaellan these efforts. Its U.S.
CEO, David Shanks, twice directly told theeentives of the holdout major publisher about his

displeasure with their decisida continue selling e-books on the wholesale model. Mr. Shanks
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tried to justify the actions of éhconspiracy as an effort toveabrick-and-mo#dr bookstores and
criticized the othepublisher for “not helimg” the group. The execueg of the other publisher
responded to Mr. Shanks’s complaints by explaining their objections to the agency model.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denieatth “took the lead” in pressuring
Random House to move to the agency mo@anguin admits that David Shanks had a
conversation with Madeline Migtosh of Random House late 2010, and that, on Markus
Dohle’s invitation, David Shanks had lunch widlehle in late 2010, and discussed the fate of
bricks-and-mortar bookstores with each, biieowvise denies the allegations contained in
paragraph 86. As David Shanks has test#iledut his conversationith Markus Dohle of
Random House:

Random House is the largest publiske if it was important that
publishers have book stores, the &stgpublisher needs to help to
assure that there are book storesalbise they are the largest so [l
asked] what are you going to do to stop the demise of book stores
and we never talked about pricing or doing anything else, it was
just that my opinion, my personaliofn that he had an obligation
to the industry to do somethinghelp the industry. Never talked
about what that would be, butdo something to make sure that
there will be book stores for a while.

ALLEGATION 87. Mr. Shanks also encouragethege print book and e-book retailer
to punish the other publisherfoot joining Defendants’ congpicy. In March 2010, Mr. Shanks
sent an e- mail message to an executive ofdtaéler complaining that the publisher “has chosen
to stay on their current model and will allow retadl to sell at whatever price they wish.” Mr.
Shanks argued that “[s]ince Penguin is lookingfoufyour] welfare at what appears to be great
costs to us, | would hope that [you] would be equally brutal to Publishers who have thrown in

with your competition with obvious disdain for your welfarel hope you make [the

publisher] hurt like Amazon is doing to [the Publisher Defendants].”
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PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits that Penguin Group (USA) CEO David

Shanks sent an email to Steve Riggio, the [Besd] of Barnes & Noble, on March 4, 2010 that

said:

Hi Steve. | wanted to share saimeg that has me concerned. You
know that we are working withiour guys to come up with a
formula where all of our accountslbe able to have the same
prices on our ebooks. It will lel/éhe playing field for Penguin
books and hopefully allow us sll both paper and ebook product.
The one discouraging thing gsu no doubt know is that Random
House has chosen to stay on tleeirrent model and allow retailers
to sell at whatever price they wisfihat istheir prerogative.

When you go on the Kindle welbsiit could be the Random House
home page. Amazon is showing us what they do to people who do
not do what they want. As Pengusnlooking out fo B&N at what
appears to be great cost tg b&ould hope that B&N would be
equally brutal to Publishers who have thrown in with your
competition with obvious disdain for your welfare. You told me
once that you were nice and Azon played hardball and they
were winning. | hope you make rand House hurt like Amazon is
doing to people who are looking dot the overall welfare of the
publishing industry. | hope you caee how strongly | feel about
this. They should not be allowedhe selfish and win. Thanks for
listening. | hope to seeou soon. (emphasis added)

The email speaks for itself. Penguin othisendenies the allegations contained in

paragraph 87.

ALLEGATION 88. When the third-party retail@ontinued to promote the non-

defendant publisher’s books, Mr. Shanks apptieate pressure. In a June 22, 2010 email to the

retailer's CEO, Mr. Shanks claimed to be “badf! as to why the retailer would promote that

publisher’s books instead of just thgmeblished by “people who stood up for you.”

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin admntist on June 22, 2010, after Barnes &

Noble took out a full page advertisement in lew York Timepromoting the Nook, a Penguin

employee emailed his contactBdrnes & Noble and commented:
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Not to be a nudge but the ad proemitly show 5 titles, 3 of which

were Random House. | don’'t understand why you would advertise

a publisher who has not gone to an agency model. B&N actually

loses money on each sale of these books a the $9.99 so advertising

them rather than so many ottgreat profitable books makes no

sense to me. Penguin went to an agency model to help support

booksellers like B&N where theteler can raise the price and

perceived value of a book and mdke retailer a profit. To have

B&N support the one publisher whaddit do that in this ad makes

us feel like our efforts to nka our industry stronger are not

appreciated by the biggest book account in the country.
Penguin admits that Penguin Group (USA) CEO D&hanks forwarded this email to William
Lynch, the CEO of Barnes & Noble, and sdidm still baffled why you would push RH books
over people who stood up for you.” The email othige speaks for itself. Penguin otherwise
denies the allegations cairted in paragraph 88.

ALLEGATION 89. Throughout the summer of 2010, Aplso cajoled the holdout
publisher to adopt agency terms in line wtibge of the Publisher Bendants, including on a
phone call between Apple CEO Steve Jobs antiaidout publisher’'s CEO. Apple flatly refused
to sell the holdout publisher’s e-books unless and until it agreed to an agency relationship
substantially similar to the arrangement betw&pple and the Publisher Defendants defined by
the Apple Agency Agreements.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Pengumwithout knowledge igarding the allegations

contained in paragraph @0d therefore denies them.

l. Conspiracy Succeeds at Raising and Stabilizing Consumer
E-book Prices

ALLEGATION 90. The ostensible maximum prices included in the Apple Agency
Agreements’ price schedule represent, in pracactual e-book prices.daed, at the time the
Publisher Defendants snatchedhil pricing autbrity away from Amazon and other e-book

retailers, not one of them had lbain internal retail pricing agaratus sufficient to do anything
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other than set retail pricestae Apple Agency Agreements’ ostensible caps. Once their agency
agreements took effect, the Publisher Defendantsd&gbook prices at aktail outlets to the
maximum price level within each tier. Evarday, two years after ¢hPublisher Defendants

began setting e-book retail prices aclnog to the Apple prie tiers, they still gethe retail prices

for the electronic versions of all aearly all of their bestselling hardcover titles at the ostensible
maximum price allowed by those price tiers.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Penguin denies thegat®ns in paragraph 90 to the extent
they relate to Penguin. Penguin lacks infororatr knowledge with regd to the allegations
concerning other publisheradtherefore denies them.

ALLEGATION 91. The Publisher Defendants’ catleve adoption of the Apple
Agency Agreements allowed them (facilitated kpphe) to raise, fix, ad stabilize retail e-book
prices in three steps: (a) theyok away retail pricing authoritydm retailers; (bjhey then set
retail e-book prices according to the Apple ptiees; and (c) they theexported the agency
model and higher retail prices tcethest of the industry, in part to comply with the retail price
MFN included in each Apple Agency Agreement.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 92. Defendants’ conspiracy and agresmhto raise and stabilize retail
e-book prices by collectively adopginhe agency model and Applager tiers led to an increase
in the retail prices ofiewly released and bestselling e-bodksor to the Defendants’ conspiracy,
consumers benefited from price competitioattled to $9.99 prices fammewly released and
bestselling e-books. AlImost immediately after Apple launched its iBaakst@\pril 2010 and

the Publisher Defendants imposed agency finmileng on all retailers, the Publisher
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Defendants’ e-book prices for most newly retzhand bestselling e-books rose to either $12.99
or $14.99.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 93. Defendants’ conspiracy and agresihto raise and stabilize retail
e-book prices by collectively adopting the agemmdel and Apple price tiers for their newly
released and bestselling e-books &sbto an increase mverage retail pricesf the balance of
Publisher Defendants’ e-book catalogs, theicaled “backlists.” Now that the Publisher
Defendants control the retailipes of e-books — but Amazon maintains control of its print book
retail prices — Publisher Defenua’ e-book prices sometimes are higher than Amazon’s prices
for print versions of the same titles.

PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Penguin admits thattfirtime to time, for certain titles and
for certain time periods, Amazon has instituéegractice of loss-leaalyj on certain print books,
pursuant to which Amazon chooses to priceehmsnt book lower than the same eBook title

sold by Penguin. Penguin otherwise deniesalfegations containden paragraph 93.

VI. VIOLATION ALLEGED

ALLEGATION 94. Beginning no later than 2009, aodntinuing to date, Defendants
and their coconspirators have engaged in apmatwy and agreement in unreasonable restraint of
interstate trade and commerce, constitutingoéation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15
U.S.C. § 1. This offense is likely to continuedaecur unless the relieéquested is granted.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 95. The conspiracy and agreemeansists of an understanding and
concert of action among Defendants and their co-coatsps to raise, fixand stabilize retail e-

book prices, to end price competition amongpexk retailers, and to limit retail price
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competition among the Publisher Defendants, utigeeffectuated by collectively adopting and
adhering to functionally identical methodfselling e-books and price schedules.
PENGUIN’'S RESPONSE: Denied.
ALLEGATION 96. For the purpose of forming and effectuating this agreement and
conspiracy, some or all Defendadtd the following things, among others:
a. Shared their business information, plans, and
strategies in order to formulateays to raise retail e-book prices;
b. Assured each other of suppor attempting to raise
retail e-book prices;
C. Employed ostensible joint venture meetings to
disguise their attempts taise retail e-book prices;
d. Fixed the method of and formulas for setting retail
e-book prices;
e. Fixed tiers for retail e-book prices;
f. Eliminated the ability of e-book retailers to fund
retail e-book price decreases ofitheir own margins; and
g. Raised the retail prices of their newly released and
bestselling e-books to the agreed prices — the ostensible price caps
— contained in the pricing Bedule of their Apple Agency
Agreements.
PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.
ALLEGATION 97. Defendants’ conspiracy and agneent, in which the Publisher

Defendants and Apple agreed to raise, find atabilize retail e-boofrices, to end price
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competition among e- book retailers, and tatliratail price competiobn among the Publisher
Defendants by fixing retail e-book prices, constitutegiaseviolation of Section 1 of the
Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 98. Moreover, Defendants’ conspiraepd agreement has resulted in
obvious and demonstrable anticompetitive effext consumers in the trade e-books market by
depriving consumers of the benefits of competimnong e-book retailers as to both retail prices
and retail innovations (such adpeek clubs and subscription plansiich that itonstitutes an
unreasonable restraint on tradeviolation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 99. Where, as here, defendants have engagegén seviolation of
Section 1 of the Sherman Act, no allegatiwith respect to the relevant product market,
geographic market, or market povaee required. To the extesuich allegations may otherwise
be necessary, the relevant product market ®ptirposes of this action is trade e-books. The
anticompetitive acts at issue ingltase directly affect the salétrade e-books to consumers.
No reasonable substitute exists for e-bookeré&lare no technologicdternatives to e-books,
thousands of which can be stored on a singkdlsievice. E-books cape stored and read on
electronic devices, while print books canr®tbooks can be located, purchased, and
downloaded anywhere a customer has an inteovatection, while prinbooks cannot. Industry
firms also view e-books as a separate maskgtment from print books, and the Publisher
Defendants were able to impogalasustain a significant retail price increase for their trade e-
books.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

68



ALLEGATION 100. The relevant geographic markethe United States. The rights to
license e- books are gitad on territorial bases, with the Utk States typically forming its own
territory. E-book retailers typicallgresent a unique storefront to U.S. consumers, often with e-
books bearing different retail prices than slaene titles would command on the same retailer’s
foreign websites.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 101. The Publisher Defendants possess market power in the market for
trade e-books. The Publisher Defendants sucdssfiposed and sustained a significant retail
price increase for theirade e-books. Collectively, they creatad distribute a wide variety of
popular e- books, regularly comprising over half of eV York TimeBction and non-fiction
bestseller lists. Collectively, they provide a critical input to any §etling trade e-books to
consumers. Any retailer sellirigade e-books to consumers would hetable to forgo profitably
the sale of the Publisher Defendants’ e-books.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

ALLEGATION 102. Defendants’ agreement and conspiracy has had and will continue to

have anticompetitive effects, including:

a. Increasing the retail prices of trade e-books;

b. Eliminating competition on price among e-book
retailers;

C. Restraining competitionn retail price among the

Publisher Defendants;
d. Restraining competition among the Publisher

Defendants for favorable relationships with e-book retailers;
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e. Constraining innovatioamong e-book retailers;
f. Entrenching incumbent publishers’ favorable
position in the sale and distriboti of print books by slowing the
migration from print books to e-books;
g. Making more likely express or tacit collusion
among publishers; and
h. Reducing competitive pressure on print book prices.
PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.
ALLEGATION 103. Defendants’ agreement and conspyras not reasonably necessary
to accomplish any procompetitive objective, or, akdikrely, its scope is broader than necessary
to accomplish any such objective.

PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: Denied.

VIl. REQUEST FOR RELIEF

ALLEGATION 104. To remedy these illegal acts, tbeited States requests that the
Court:
a. Adjudge and decree that Defendants entered into an
unlawful contract, combinatiolr conspiracy in unreasonable
restraint of interstate trade aodmmerce in violation of Section 1
of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1;
b. Enjoin the Defendants, their officers, agents,
servants, employees and attorneys and their successors and all
other persons acting or claimibgact in active concert or

participation with one or nre of them, from continuing,
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maintaining, or renewing in any maer, directly oindirectly, the
conduct alleged herein or froemgaging in any other conduct,
combination, conspiracy, agreement, understanding, plan,
program, or other arrangement having the same effect as the
alleged violation or that otherse violates Section 1 of the
Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1, through fixing the method and
manner in which they sell e-books, otherwise agreeing to set the
price or release date for e-bopks collectivenegotiation of e-

book agreements, or otherwise cditeely restrainng retail price
competition for e-books;

C. Prohibit the collusive settg of price tiers that can
de facto fix prices;

d. Declare null and void the Apple Agency
Agreements and any agreement between a Publisher Defendant
and an e-book retailer that rests, limits, or impedes the e-book
retailer’s ability to set, altegr reduce the retail price of any e-
book or to offer price or other @gmotions to encourage consumers
to purchase any e-book, or caims a retail price MFN;

e. Reform the agreements between Apple and
Publisher Defendants to strikeethetail price MFN clauses as void

and unenforceable; and
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f. Award to Plaintiff its costs of this action and such
other and further relief as may appropriate and as the Court may
deem just and proper.
PENGUIN'S RESPONSE: No response is reqlimed paragraph 104tiserefore denied.
To the extent the Complaint sets foany allegation to which Penguin has not

responded, such allegation is denied.

AFFIRMATIVE AND OTHER DEFENSES

FIRST DEFENSE

The Complaint fails to state a claim agsiPenguin upon which relief can be granted.

SECOND DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claims against Penguin areteal because Penguin was not part of any
contract, combination, or consgcy in restraint of trade.

THIRD DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claims against Penguin are barfecause Penguin’s alled actions did not
result in any harm to competition.

FOURTH DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claims against Penguin fail undeettule of reason because the procompetitive
justifications for Penguin’s alleged actions oeigh any alleged resulting harm to competition.

FIFTH DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claims against Penguin arerted by the doctrine of unclean hands.

SIXTH DEFENSE

Plaintiff's claims against Penguineabarred by the doctrine of laches.
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SEVENTH DEFENSE

Plaintiff’'s claims against Pgyuin are barred because the gipal/agent relationship does
not form an “agreement” as definby Section 1 of the Sherman Act.

EIGHTH DEFENSE

Plaintiff has failed to join all parties necesséor a just and apppriate adjudication of

its claims.

NINTH DEFENSE

Penguin’s actions were undertakargood faith to promote legitimate business purposes

and in order to and did have the effect of promoting competition.

TENTH DEFENSE

Penguin reserves the right to amend this Asrsand to assert additional defenses, cross-

claims, and third party claims in this actiahen and if they become appropriate.

Dated: May 29, 2012 Respectfully submitted,

/sDaniel F. Mclnnis
DanielF. Mclnnis (admittedpro hac vicé
DavidA. Donohoe
AllisonSheedyadmittedpro hac vicég
AKIN GUMP STRAUSSHAUER & FELD, LLP
133New HampshireAve, NW
WashingtonDC 20036
Tel: (2020887-4000
Fax:(202)887-4288
dmcinnis@akingump.com
ddonohoe@akingump.com
asheedy@akingump.com

Attorneys for Penguin Group (USA), Inc. and The Penguin Group, a Division of Pearson plc.

73



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

| HEREBY CERTIFY that on May 29, 201Pglectronically filed the foregoing
document using the CM/ECF system which with@deotification of such filing to the e-mail

addresses registered in the CM/ECF systendenoted on the Electronic Mail Notice List.

DATED: May 29, 2012

/sl
Daniel F. MclInnis
AKIN GUMP STRAUSS HAUER & FELD
1333 New Hampshire Avenue, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20036-1564
Telephone: 202-887-4000
Facsimile: 202-887-4288
ddonohoe@akingump.com




	doj answer
	cert of service

